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Strategic Report  

For the year ended 31 December 2023 

Review of the business 

Corporate update: Diversified Services and Strategic Initiatives 

The Company, along with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”), maintains a robust portfolio of services, 

encompassing four key areas: cloud services, managed services, privacy services, and data insights services. These offerings are 

predominantly structured under contractual agreements, with revenue streams primarily derived from monthly billing cycles. This 

predictable revenue model ensures strong visibility into cashflows. 

 

Market Resilience and Data security Focus 

The Group’s services cater to a buoyant market, spanning cloud solutions, privacy enhancements, and data-driven insights. Central 

to our approach is safeguarding data integrity and security across all service lines. As businesses evaluate cloud migration options, 

our managed services team actively identifies opportunities for upselling and cross-selling, ensuring optimal value for our clients. 

 

People-centric Strategy and Certifications 

Investment in our workforce remains a priority. We continually refine our management structure and roles to execute our strategic 

vision effectively. Additionally, we proudly maintain a SOC 2 Type 2 certification, underscoring our commitment to robust security 

practices. Recently, we made a strategic decision to shift focus from ISO 14001:2015 alignment to pursuing B Corporation 

certification by 2025, a testament to our dedication to social and environmental responsibility. 

 

Year end financial position and key performance indicators 

The principal KPIs that the Group monitors are monthly recurring revenue (“MRR”) and EBITDA. These metrics are identifiable 

in the management accounts each month. The Group’s EBITDA in 2023 was positive £206,867 (2022: positive £925,130 restated) 

and group recurring revenue was split per service line as follows: 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Cloud services 7,685,453 7,646,284 

Managed services 2,376,371 4,053,212 

DPOaas 777,536 630,390 

Data Insights as a Service (DIaaS) 4,391,676 4,274,289 

 15,231,036 16,604,175 

The Group does not currently analyse EBITDA by service line. 

 

Going concern 

 

The Directors have prepared revised cash flow projections which show that the Group has a reasonable expectation of maintaining 

sufficient working capital to enable the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due for the foreseeable future, being a period of not 

less than 12 months from the date of approval of this report. The Group has the financial support of its immediate parent company 

and ultimate controlling party in the execution of its strategy.  
 
The Group is in a net liability position of £42,625,144 (2022: net liability position of £28,277,790 restated).  The net liability is 

largely attributable to the historic amortisation and impairment of goodwill, cumulative interest cost on third party borrowings and 

the high element of non-recurring costs in each of the four financial years ended 31 December 2023. The Group continues to generate 

a positive EBITDA and the Directors are confident in the ability to grow the business in both the data insights and cloud industry 

segments particularly.   

 

Since the year end, the Group has renegotiated terms of the bond loan following a series of discussions with the bondholders in late 

2023. The key new terms were (i) an extension of the maturity/repayment date to December 2028 (ii) the fixing of the interest on 

the bond loan at 7% per annum as a PIK arrangement compounded on each interest payment date and capitalised into the capital 

balance for settlement upon maturity. As part of these refinance discussions, the principal shareholder invested a further £3m in the 

business and this was received on 5 February 2024. This investment was by way of a loan facility which bears interest at 6% per 

annum and which is also settled by way of a PIK arrangement with no cash payable until December 2028.  
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Strategic report (continued) 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

As such, the Directors do not believe that the reported net liability is a going concern issue and they continue to adopt the going 

concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements. 

 

Principal risk and uncertainties 
 

The main risks arising from the Group’s operations include credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and operational risks. The Board 

of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised further as follows: 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk represents the failure of customers and clients or counterparties to fully honour their obligations to the Group, including 

the whole and timely payment of trade and other receivables. The risk is managed through regular reviews of the aged debtor book 

and monthly review meetings with the finance team. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group does not have sufficient cash or collateral to make payments to its counterparties and 

customers as they fall due.   

 

The Group monitors sales opportunities and contract renewals during weekly meetings between key members of the commercial 

team, the CEO and the CFO.  Sales are also compared to budget and prior year on a monthly basis in the group’s internal management 

accounts and these are shared with the senior executive team and Main Board each month. In addition, reports that summarise 

revenue by customer across each location are reviewed by the finance team as part of the month end management accounting 

process.  
 

On 5 February 2024, newly negotiated terms of the bond loan became effective following a series of discussions with the 

bondholders in late 2023 and no further cash interest will now be paid until December 2028, the new maturity/repayment date of 

the bond loan. As part of these refinance discussions, the Company received £3m from the principal shareholder by way of a loan 

facility and no cash interest is payable on this facility until December 2028. 
 
Market risk 
This is the risk of loss arising from potential adverse changes in the value of the Group’s assets and liabilities from fluctuations in 

market variables including, but not limited to, interest rates and foreign exchange rates. On 5 February 2024, under the terms of the 

newly negotiated terms of the bond loan, the interest on the bond loan will now accrue at a fixed rate of 7% per annum as a PIK 

arrangement compounded on each interest payment date and capitalised into the capital balance for settlement upon maturity in 

December 2028. 

 
The Group does not have a formal policy in place to manage foreign exchange exposure, however, revenue received in foreign 

currency is used wherever possible to settle liabilities in the same currency. The Group does not have any forward FX contracts in 

place at the balance sheet date. 
 
Operational risks 
The Group considers the principal operational risks to be as follows: 

(i) Security of our systems – we utilise industry leading security products to protect our systems and services against both 

known and unknown threats  
(ii) Retention of key staff – the Group offers competitive remuneration packages to all staff as well as offering training 

opportunities and progressive career paths where possible. 
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Strategic report (continued) 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

Future developments 

 
The Group continues to enhance its client offering ranging from continuous improvement in the cloud environments and associated 

use of new technologies across to the recruitment and retention of key staff across Europe and North America.   
 

Signed on behalf of the board by:  

 

 

  

_____________________________   Director 

Mr Paul Comerford 
30 April 2024 
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Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements (the “consolidated financial statements”) for the 

year ended 31 December 2023. 

 

Directors of the group 

 

The Directors, who held office during the year, were as follows: 

Mr Julian Box (resigned 5 January 2024) 

Mr Adam Ryan 

Mr Paul Comerford was appointed as a Director on 5 January 2024. 

 

Secretary 

 

The secretary of the Company at 31 December 2023 and subsequently was Brendan Walsh who had been secretary for the whole of 

the year then ended.   

 

Principal activities 

 

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are the provision of Cloud Services, Managed Services, 

Data Privacy Services and Data Insight Services. 

 

Immediate and ultimate controlling party 

 

The Directors consider the immediate controlling party to be Calligo Limited, a Company incorporated in Jersey. The ultimate 

holding Company is Calligo Holdings Limited, a Company also incorporated in Jersey and which is ultimately controlled by 

Investcorp Holdings B.S.C, a company incorporated in Bahrain.  The consolidated financial statements of Calligo Holdings Limited 

are published on the company’s website www.calligo.io. 

  

Results and dividends 

 

The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out on page 16.  There were no 

dividends paid in the year under review (2022: £nil). 

 

Going concern 

 

The Directors have prepared revised cash flow projections which show that the Group has a reasonable expectation of maintaining 

sufficient working capital to enable the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due for the foreseeable future, being a period of not 

less than 12 months from the date of approval of this report. The Group has the financial support of its immediate parent company 

and ultimate controlling party in the execution of its strategy. 

 

The Group is in a net liability position of £42,625,144 (2022: net liability position of £28,277,790 restated).  The net liability is 

largely attributable to the historic amortisation and impairment of goodwill, cumulative interest cost on third party borrowings and 

the high element of non-recurring costs in each of the four financial years ended 31 December 2023. The Group continues to generate 

a positive EBITDA and the Directors are confident in the ability to grow the business in both the data insights and cloud industry 

segments particularly.   

 

Since the year end, the Group has negotiated terms of the bond loan following a series of discussions with the bondholders in late 

2023. The key new terms were (i) an extension of the maturity/repayment date to December 2028 (ii) the fixing of the interest on 

the bond loan at 7% per annum as a PIK arrangement compounded on each interest payment date and capitalised into the capital 

balance for settlement upon maturity. As part of these refinance discussions, the principal shareholder invested a further £3m in the 

business and this was received on 5 February 2024. This investment was by way of a loan facility which bears interest at 6% per 

annum and which is also settled by way of a PIK arrangement with no cash payable until December 2028.  

 

As such, the Directors do not believe that the reported net liability is a going concern issue and they continue to adopt the going 

concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 68A8208E-72AB-4828-8DD7-EF85C9D194B7

http://www.calligo.io/


 

CALLIGO (UK) LIMITED 
 

6 

 

Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 
 

Financial risk management 
 
The Group finances its operations though the generation of cash from operating activities and any interest accruing under the bond 

facility is paid from these cash flows. Liquidity risk is managed through forecasting the future cash flow requirements of the business 

and maintaining sufficient cash at bank balances. 
 

Employees 

 

The Group’s policy is to provide equal opportunities to all present and potential employees. The Group promotes a fair and open 

recruitment process with both internal and external candidates selected according to their competencies, education, training, merit, 

experience and abilities to meet the business needs and the organisation’s goals. The Group is committed to encouraging and 

investing in Equality, Diversity and Inclusion amongst the workforce and opposes all forms of discrimination. The Group has an 

ED&I policy with commitments, principles and initiatives fully supported by the leadership team. 

 

ESG 
 

At the Calligo Group, our ESG framework is being intricately woven into our organisational ethos—transforming data into 

customers' most valuable asset while simultaneously elevating our commitment to the planet, people, and ethical governance. This 

comprehensive approach reflects our overarching mission and resonates deeply with our stakeholders, which encompasses 

employees, partners, suppliers and investors. 

 

In our journey toward ESG excellence, we've instituted an inclusive ESG working group that mirrors our company's diverse 

expertise and geographical footprint. This collective has critically evaluated our ESG trajectory, opting to pivot from our initial 

alignment with the ISO 14001:2015 standard to pursue B Corporation certification. We recognize that B Corp's holistic ESG focus 

better aligns with our ambition to foster sustainable and socially responsible operations across all facets of our business. 

 

Our path to B Corp certification by 2025 is underscored by a rigorous assessment process. We are diligently identifying and 

establishing clear, actionable objectives, particularly in the realm of emissions reduction and environmental stewardship. Attainment 

of the B Corp seal will not only affirm our dedication to excellent corporate governance but also highlight our tangible social and 

environmental achievements. 

 

As a confluence of technology and human ingenuity, Calligo places immense value on cultivating an employee-centric culture. Our 

commitment to fostering employee wellbeing, health, and social accountability is demonstrated through a myriad of initiatives 

aimed at nurturing trust and collaboration, independent of geographic constraints. 

 

Our governance structure, embodied by a proactive Group Board and specialized sub-committees in Audit and Remuneration, 

ensures rigorous oversight and strategic direction. Meeting quarterly with additional interim updates, the Board, which blends 

executive insight with non-executive oversight, remains steadfast in steering our ESG agenda. Simultaneously, our Senior 

Management Team, inclusive of key C-suite leaders, maintains a pulse on operational and strategic dimensions, ensuring that our 

ESG commitments are seamlessly integrated into our day-to-day and long-term business strategies. 

 

Disclosure to auditors 

 

The Directors confirm at the date of this report that, so far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 

the company’s auditor is unaware and they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director in order to make 

themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of that information. 
 

Independent auditors 

 

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditors will be deemed to be reappointed and Grant Thornton Limited 

shall continue in office. 
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Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2023 (continued) 

 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 

 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United 

Kingdom Accounting Standards. 

 

The Companies Act 2006 requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors 

have elected to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with applicable law and UK-adopted international 

accounting standards as issued by UK Endorsement Board (UKEB). Under company law, the financial statements are required by 

law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and Group at the end of the year and of the profit or loss of 

the Group for the year. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

 

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

 make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

 state whether applicable UK adopted international accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 

 assess the Company and Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern; and 

 use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or 

have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements. 

 

 

 

Mr Paul Comerford 

Director      

30 April 2024 
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Independent auditor's report to the members of Calligo (UK) Limited

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Calligo (UK) Limited (the ‘Company’) and
its subsidiaires (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2023, which comprise the
Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the Company Statement of Financial Position, the
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is Companies
Act 2006 and UK-adopted international accounting standards.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements:

· give a true and fair view of the state of the Company and Group’s affairs as at 31 December
2023 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

· have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international financial
accounting standards; and

· have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK))
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements’ section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks associated with the
Group’s business model including effects arising from macro-economic uncertainties, we assessed
and challenged the reasonableness of estimates made by the directors and the related disclosures
and analysed how those risks might affect the Group’s financial resources or ability to continue
operations over the going concern period. Our evaluation also considered post balance sheet
refinancing and a review of future cash flow forecasts, including challenging assumptions made in
such forecasts.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the
consolidated financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the consolidated financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is
appropriate.

The responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
‘Responsibilities of directors for the consolidated financial statements’ section of this report.



Our approach to the audit

Overview of our audit approach
Overall materiality:
· Group: £350,000, which represents 2% of the Group’s

total revenues.
Key audit matters were identified as:
· Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets; and
· Improper revenue recognition

Our auditor’s report for the year ended 31 December 2022
included one key audit matter that has not been reported as
a key audit matter in our current year’s report. This relates
to:
· First time adoption of IFRS
Scoping
· We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial

statements from Jersey based on information provided
by the Group Finance Team, as well as information
provided from finance teams in Ireland and Canada.

· Other than the Company only balance sheet, our audit
opinion covers the consolidated financial statements of
the Group only. We have not been engaged to provide
individual statutory opinions on the financial statements
of the Parent Company or subsidiaries.

· Our audit coverage of revenues was 98.5%

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed
risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included
those that had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit;
and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit
matters

Scoping

Materiality

Description Audit reponse

Disclosures
Key

observations/Our
results

KAM



In the graph below, we have presented the key audit matters, significant risks and other risks relevant
to the audit.

Key Audit Matter – Group
How our scope addressed the matter –
Group

Impairment of goodwill and other
intangible assets
We identified impairment of goodwill and
other intangible assets as one of the most
significant assessed risks of material
misstatement due to fraud or error.

The Group has a significant carrying amount
of goodwill which is spread across a range of
cash-generating units (CGUs) in different
countries. Furthermore, the group recognized
the customer list as an intangible asset from
one of its business acquisitions in the US.

The value in use calculation for the CGUs,
which represents the estimated recoverable
amount, is subjective due to the inherent
uncertainty involved in forecasting and
discounting estimated future cash flows
(specifically the key assumptions such as
revenue, operating margin, long-term
perpetuity growth rate and discount rate).
Estimation uncertainty has increased as a
result of inflationary pressures from the
macro economic environment and the current
geo-political environment.

The effect of these matters is that, as part of
our risk assessment, we determined that the
carrying amount of the CGUs has a high
degree of estimation uncertainty, with a
potential range of reasonable outcomes

In responding to the key audit matter, we
performed the following audit procedures:
· Reviewed management’s impairment

assessment of goodwill at the year-end
date.

· Benchmarked the discount rates applied
in the determination of the fair value of
the Cash Generating Units (CGUs).

· Obtained management’s justification for
the assumed growth rate applied to
determine the fair value of the CGUs.

· Reviewed the value in use recoverable
amount utilising budgets, forecasts and
supported discount rates, and assessed
whether this resulted in an impairment.

· Discussed with management the value in
use for Canada and Ireland and obtained
management’s assessment to support
their decision to further fully impair the
goodwill.

Summary of work performed with regards to
other intangible assets:
· For customer contracts:

- Recalculated amortization charge for
the intangibles – Customer contracts.

- Performed impairment assessment of
customers contracts.

Key audit matter Significant risk Other risk

High

Low

Potential
financial

statement
impact

HighLow Extent of management judgement

Bad debts
provision

Revenue
recognition

Management
override of

controls

Impairment
assessment
of goodwill
and other
intangible
assets



Key Audit Matter – Group
How our scope addressed the matter –
Group

greater than our materiality for the financial
statements as a whole.

Relevant disclosures in the Annual Report
and Accounts 2023
· Financial statements: Note 10 Goodwill,

Note 12 Other intangible assets

Our results
We deemed appropriate the Group’s
conclusion that Calligo Canada and Caligo
Ireland goodwill were impaired and that no
impairment was required Calligo US goodwill
and other intangible assets.
The results of our work on customer contracts
supported management’s assessment that
no further impairment was necessary.

Revenue recognition
We identified revenue recognition as one of
the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement due to fraud.

The group recognised revenue of
£17,553,749 (2022: £22,395,184). Revenue
is the most quantitatively significant line item
in the Consolidated Income Statement and is
composed of several geographical areas and
service lines.

In responding to the key audit matter, we
performed the following audit procedures:
· Updated our understanding of the

Group’s revenue recognition policies;
· Compared the revenue recognition

policies adopted by the Group against the
requirements of the financial reporting
framework;

· Selected a sample of revenue
transactions during the year and agreed
to corresponding invoices, and where
applicable accompanying agreements,
statements of work and proof of
collection;

· Performed revenue analytics using audit
data analysis techniques. Analytical
procedures were performed for revenue
journals that have unexpected or
unrelated accounts. These entries were
investigated through inquiry with
management and other supporting
documentation where necessary;

· Performed cut-off testing on invoices over
the year end to ensure they were
appropriately recorded in the correct
period; and

· Performed gap analysis procedures to
identify gaps in the invoice sequencing.
Where gaps were identified explanations
and/or supporting documentation were
sought from management.

Relevant disclosures in the Annual Report
and Accounts 2023
· Financial statements: Note 4 Segment

information

Our results
We consider that revenue across the Group
has been appropriately recognised.



Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the ‘Report and Audited Consolidated Financial Statements’, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
consolidated financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

· the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

· the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable
legal requirements.

Matter on which we are required to report under the Companies Act 2006

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and its environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the
directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act
2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

· adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

· the consolidated financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or

· certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

· we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.



Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor’s report.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We
design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements
in respect of irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an
unavoidable risk that material misstatements in the consolidated financial statements may not be
detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs
(UK).

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed
below:

· We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the
Group through discussions with management. We determined that the most significant
frameworks that are directly relevant to specific assertions in the consolidated financial
statements are those related to the financial reporting framework, being UK-adopted
international accounting standards and the Companies Act 2006, together with the Nasdaq
Stockholm Rulebook for Issuers of Fixed Income Instruments, and tax legislation in the
jurisdictions in which the Group operates, including the application of local sales and use taxes
and overseas permanent establishments;

· We enquired of management, the finance team, legal counsel and the board of directors about
the Group’s policies and procedures relating to:

- the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations;

- the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and

- the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance
with laws and regulations.

· We enquired of management and the board of directors whether they were aware of any
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations and whether they had any knowledge of
actual, suspected alleged fraud, we corroborated our enquiries by review of board minutes and
we identified areas of the above laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have
a material effect on the financial statements from our sector experience and through discussion
with management;

· We assessed the susceptibility of the consolidated financial statements to material misstatement
due to fraud, including how fraud might occur and the risk of management override of controls.
Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

- Enquiring of management, the finance team, legal counsel and the Board about the risks of
fraud at the Group and parent Company level, and the controls implemented to address
those risks;



- Assessing the design and implementation of controls relevant to the audit that management
has in place to prevent and detect fraud, including updating our understanding of the
internal controls over journal entries, including those related to the posting of non-standard
entries used to record non-recurring, unusual transactions or other non-routine
adjustments;

- Making specific inquiries of each member of the finance team to ascertain whether they had
been subject to undue pressure or had been asked to make any unusual postings or
modifications to reports used in financial reporting;

- Performing journal entries testing through the use of audit data analytics tools to identify
high risk journal entries and postings and reviewing unusual transactions and examining
supporting evidence and authorisations;

- Performing specific procedures responding to the risk of fraudulent recognition of revenue
as detailed within the key audit matters section;

- Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant
accounting estimates (as referenced in the key audit matters section above); and

- Identifying and testing related party transactions.

· These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the consolidated
financial statements were free from fraud or error. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error and
detecting irregularities that result from fraud is inherently more difficult than detecting those that
result from error, as fraud may involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from
events and transactions reflected in the consolidated financial statements, the less likely we
would become aware of it.

· The engagement partner’s assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and
capabilities of the engagement team included consideration of the engagement team’s
understanding of, and practical experience with, audit engagements of a similar nature and
complexity, through appropriate training and participation.

· We communicated relevant laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement
team members and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations throughout the audit.

· We did not identify any matters relating to non-compliance with laws and regulations or relating to
fraud; and

In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding of:
- the entity’s operation, including the nature of its revenue sources, products and services and

of its objectives and strategies to understand the classes of transactions, account balances,
expected financial statement disclosures and business risks that may result in risks of
material misstatement.

- the applicable statutory provisions
- the entity's control environment.



Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Copmany and the Company’s members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Jason Lees-Baker
Senior Statutory Auditor
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton Limited
Chartered Accountants
St Helier, Jersey

30 April 2024
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Consolidated Income Statement  

for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

  2023 2022 

   Restated 

 Notes £ £ 

Revenue 4 17,553,749 22,395,184 

    

Costs of Sales  (5,680,261) (7,211,201) 

Employee benefits expense 5 (10,043,426) (12,559,714) 

Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment of Non-financial assets  (8,716,842) (2,348,921) 

Impairment of Financial Assets  (147,963) (62,555) 

Other expenses 6 (2,824,401) (3,439,153) 

Operating loss  (9,859,144) (3,226,360) 

    

Finance income 7 1,770 36,522 

Finance costs 7 (4,377,592) (4,030,017) 

Other financial items 8 (30,277) (80,875) 

Loss before taxation  (14,265,243) (7,300,730) 

    

Tax expense 9 (205,206) (178,153) 

    

Loss for the year  (14,470,449) (7,478,883) 

    

Loss attributable to:    

Owners of the Group  (14,470,449) (7,478,883) 

 

The notes on pages 22-60 form an integral part of these financial statements.  

 

The above results are derived from continuing activities.  
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  

for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

  2023 2022 

   Restated 

  £ £ 

Loss for the financial year  (14,470,449) (7,478,883) 

    

Other comprehensive income    

Exchange differences on retranslation of subsidiaries   123,095 (312,713) 

    

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (14,347,354) (7,791,596) 

    

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to:    

Owners of the Group  (14,347,354) (7,791,596) 

 

The notes on pages 22-60 form an integral part of these financial statements.  

 

The above results are derived from continuing activities.  
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

As at 31 December 2023 

 
 Notes  31 Dec 2023  31 Dec 2022 

     Restated 

Assets   £  £ 

 

Non-current assets 

     

Goodwill 10  4,509,619  11,243,226 

Other intangible assets 12  1,525,780  2,164,804 

Other long term assets 13  420,288  743,426 

Property, plant and equipment 14  2,176,994  1,951,793 

Right of use assets 15  2,583,470  2,130,049 

   11,216,151  18,233,298 

 

Current assets 

     

Inventory   19,569  41,794 

Prepayments and other short term assets 16  468,655  494,697 

Trade and other receivables 17  16,483,759  3,482,209 

Cash and cash equivalents 18  571,763  1,099,622 

   17,543,746  5,118,322 

 

Total assets 

  

28,759,897 

  

23,351,620 

      

Equity and liabilities      

 

Equity 

     

Share capital 19  6,660,974  6,660,974 

Retained losses   (49,286,118)  (34,938,764) 

Equity attributable to owners of company   (42,625,144)  (28,277,790) 

 

Non-current liabilities 

     

Borrowings 20  -  34,244,653 

Lease liabilities 21  3,098,352  2,229,350 

   3,098,352  36,474,003 

 

Current liabilities 

     

Borrowings 20  34,022,809  - 

Trade and other payables 22  32,589,061  13,377,874 

Lease liabilities 21  812,547  1,009,909 

Contract and other liabilities    175,726  248,275 

Provisions   173,131  91,519 

Tax liabilities 23  513,415  427,830 

   68,286,689  15,155,407 

 

Total liabilities 

  

71,385,041  51,629,410 

      

Total equity and liabilities   28,759,897  23,351,620 

 

The notes on pages 22-60 form an integral part of these financial statements. The consolidated financial statements were approved 

and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 30 April 2024 and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

_____________________________   Director                   ______________________________Director 

Mr Paul Comerford            Mr Adam Ryan  
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Company Statement of Financial Position 

As at 31 December 2023 

 
 Notes  31 Dec 2023  31 Dec 2022 

Assets   £  £ 

 

Non-current assets 

     

Intangible assets 10  -  354,700 

Investment in subsidiaries 11  7,122,489  7,063,926 

Property, plant and equipment 14  198,757  344,931 

Right of use assets 15  303,815  770,171 

   7,625,061  8,533,728 

 

Current assets 

     

Inventory   -  309 

Prepayments and other short term assets 16  238,332  199,220 

Trade and other receivables 17  22,423,176  23,200,393 

Cash and cash equivalents 18  141,807  271,963 

   22,803,315  23,671,885 

 

Total assets 

  

30,428,376 

 

32,205,613 

      

Equity and liabilities      

 

Equity 

     

Share capital 19  6,660,974  6,660,974 

Retained losses   (26,792,384)  (21,138,098) 

Equity attributable to owners of company   (20,131,410)  (14,477,124) 

 

Non-current liabilities 

     

Borrowings 20  -  34,244,653 

Lease liabilities 21  63,649  270,128 

Other liabilities   -  - 

   63,649  34,514,781 

 

Current liabilities 

     

Borrowings 20  34,022,809  - 

Provisions   5,301  - 

Trade and other payables 22  16,183,960  11,434,714 

Lease liabilities 21  195,866  557,694 

Contract and other liabilities    88,201  175,548 

Tax liabilities 23  -  - 

   50,496,137  12,167,956 

 

Total liabilities 

  

50,559,786  46,682,737 

      

Total equity and liabilities   30,428,376  32,205,613 

 

The notes on pages 22-60 form an integral part of these financial statements. The consolidated financial statements were approved 

and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 30 April 2024 and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

_____________________________   Director                   ______________________________Director 

Mr Paul Comerford            Mr Adam Ryan 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 

 
 Share 

 capital 

Share 

premium 

Retained 

 losses 

Total 

 £ £ £ £ 

Balance at 1 January 2023 6,660,974 - (34,938,764) (28,277,790) 

     

Loss for the year  - - (14,470,449) (14,470,449) 

Other comprehensive income  - - 123,095 123,095 

Balance at 31 December 2023 6,660,974 - (49,286,118) (42,625,144) 

     

Balance at 1 January 2022 6,660,974 - (27,147,168) (20,486,194) 

     

Loss for the year – restated (note 29) - - (7,478,883) (7,478,883) 

Other comprehensive income – restated (note 29) - - (312,713) (312,713) 

Balance at 31 December 2022 6,660,974 - (34,938,764) (28,277,790) 

 

The notes on pages 22-60 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

Company Statement of Changes in Equity 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 

 

 Share 

 capital 

Share 

premium 

Retained 

 losses 

Total 

 £ £ £ £ 

Balance at 1 January 2023 6,660,974 - (21,138,098) (14,477,124) 

     

Loss for the year - - (5,654,286) (5,654,286) 

Balance at 31 December 2023 6,660,974 - (26,792,384) (20,131,410) 

     

Balance at 1 January 2022 6,660,974 - (15,236,125) (8,575,151) 

     

Loss for the year - - (5,901,973) (5,901,973) 

Balance at 31 December 2022 6,660,974 - (21,138,098) (14,477,124) 

 

The notes on pages 22-60 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

  2023 2022 

   Restated 

 Notes £ £ 

Operating activities    

Loss before tax  (14,265,243) (7,300,730) 

Non cash adjustments 24 13,135,815 6,724,086 

Net changes in working capital 24 5,629,023 380,005 

Taxes (paid)/reclaimed  (119,621) 228,628 

    

Net cash from operating activities  4,379,974 31,989 

    

Net cash used in investing activities    

Purchase of tangible fixed assets  (708,781) (713,155) 

Purchase of intangible fixed assets  (78,590) (158,235) 

Sale of businesses  81,155 160,870 

Interest received  1,770 36,522 

Net cash used in investing activities  (704,446) (673,998) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Payment of finance lease liabilities  (1,204,183) (1,328,915) 

Repayment of Nordic bond facility  - (8,588,539) 

Interest paid  (2,998,424) (3,636,737) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (4,202,607) (13,554,191) 

    

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (527,079) (14,196,200) 

    

Cash and cash equivalents and cash in escrow at beginning of year   1,135,376 15,331,576 

    

Cash and cash equivalents and cash in escrow at end of year  608,297 1,135,376 

 

Balance sheet reconciliation of total cash and cash equivalents 

  £ £ 

Cash and cash equivalents  571,763 1,099,622 

Cash in escrow included in other debtors (note 17)  36,534 35,754 

Total cash, cash equivalents and cash held in escrow in the statement of cash 

flows 

 

608,297 1,135,376 

 

The notes on pages 22-60 form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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1 Corporate information 
 

The consolidated financial statements of Calligo (UK) Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Group) for 

the year ended 31 December 2023 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 30 

April 2024. Calligo (UK) Limited is a private limited company incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The 

registered office is located at Suite 3md Siskin Drive, Middlemarch Business Park, Coventry, England CV3 4FJ.  

 

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of Managed Services, Cloud Infrastructure Services, Data 

Privacy Services and Data Insight Services. 

 

The Directors consider the immediate controlling party to be Calligo Limited, a Company that is ultimately 

controlled by Investcorp Holdings B.S.C. 

 

2 Material accounting policies 

 

2.1 Basis of preparation 

 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international 

accounting standards as issued by UK Endorsement Board (UKEB). 

 

The financial statements are required to be produced in this format under the terms of the listing of the Nordic 

bonds on the open market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.  

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis. The consolidated financial 

statements are presented in pound sterling (£) and all values are shown in whole numbers except when otherwise 

indicated. 

 

2.2 Basis of consolidation 

 

The Group’s financial statements consolidate those of the parent company and all of its subsidiaries at 31 

December 2023. All subsidiaries have a reporting date of 31 December. 

 

All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised 

gains and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales 

are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a Group perspective. 

Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure 

consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 

 

The total comprehensive income/loss of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are recognised from 

the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable. 

 

The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the 

non-controlling interests based on their respective ownership interests. There are no non-controlling interests for 

both 2023 and 2022. The principal subsidiaries of the Company are detailed in note 31. 

 

2.3  New Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing Standards that are issued but not yet 

effective 

 

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, several new, but not yet effective, standards 

and amendments to existing standards, and interpretations have been published by the IFRIC. None of these 

Standards or amendments to existing Standards have been adopted early by the Group and no interpretations have 

been issued that are applicable and need to be taken into consideration by the Group at either reporting date. 

Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted for the first period beginning on or after 

the effective date of the pronouncement. New Standards, amendments and Interpretations not adopted in the 
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current year have not been disclosed as they are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s 

consolidated financial statements.  

 

2.4 Summary of material accounting policies 

 

The following are the significant accounting policies applied by the Group in preparing its consolidated financial 

statements: 

 

a) Business combinations and Goodwill 

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration transferred 

by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets 

transferred, including identified Intangible Assets when they can be measured, liabilities incurred, and the equity 

interests issued by the Group, which includes the fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent 

consideration arrangement. Where applicable, for each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure 

the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable 

net assets.  Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. 

 

If the Group acquires a controlling interest in a business in which it previously held an equity interest, that equity 

interest is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date with any resulting gain or loss recognised in profit or 

loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. 

 

Consideration transferred as part of a business combination does not include amounts related to the settlement of 

pre-existing relationships. The gain or loss on the settlement of any pre-existing relationship is recognised in profit 

or loss. 

 

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not individually 

identified and separately recognised. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses since IAS 36 

adoption from 1 January 2021. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination 

is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s operating business locations.  These are defined to 

be the Group’s cash–generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of 

whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.  

 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill 

associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the 

gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the 

disposed operation and the portion of the CGU retained. 

 

b) Current versus non-current classification  

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position based on current/non-current 

classification. An asset is current when it is:  

 Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle  

 Held primarily for the purpose of trading  

 Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or  

 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 

twelve months after the reporting period.  

 

All other assets are classified as non-current.  
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A liability is current when:  

 It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle  

 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading  

 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or  

 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the 

reporting period.  

 

The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity 

instruments do not affect its classification.  

 

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-

current assets and liabilities. 

 

c) Fair value measurement 

The Group measures financial assets and liabilities based on fair value, market-based techniques, when the market 

information is available.  The Group does not have any derivatives, financial assets and liabilities that can be 

valued based on observable market information. 

 

The Group’s financial assets include trade and other receivables and cash at bank.  Financial liabilities include 

contracted liabilities to account for deferred client revenue, trade and other payables and the Group’s bond 

borrowing liability.   

 

Non financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost.   

 

All assets and liability balances are fair value assessed on a cash generating unit (CGU) basis, when the net assets 

value is higher than the estimated recoverable value of the overall CGU an impairment value is determined and 

applied firstly against the goodwill relevant to the CGU (refer to note 2.4.n).   

 

The estimated carrying value of each CGU is calculated using the FVLCOD (fair value less cost of disposal) 

method using EBITDA with an applied growth rate and discount factor based on Group borrowing rate to 

determine a present value estimate. This determines the price estimate that would be received to sell a CGU (net 

assets and liabilities within CGU) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the CGU takes place either:  

  

 In the principal market for the asset or liability   

 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability  

 On the basis that the principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.  

 

The fair value of CGU is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the 

CGU, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.  
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d) Revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue arises from the provision of services relating to cloud services, professional services, data insights and 

managed services with smaller income streams being derived from hardware, software, and non-cloud income. 
 
To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a five-step process: 

1 Identifying the contract with a customer 

2 Identifying the performance obligations 

3 Determining the transaction price 

4 Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations, and then 

5 Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied. 

 

The Group enters into customer contracts/arrangements to supply a selection of products and services, for 

example, within cloud services, platform access is purchased with a selection of applications, hosting 

infrastructure requirements and hardware additions. The arrangement is then assessed to determine whether it 

contains a single combined obligation or multiple performance obligations.  If applicable the total transaction 

price is allocated amongst the various performance obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling prices.  

The transaction price for a contract includes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

 

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when the Group satisfies performance obligations by 

transferring the promised goods or services to its customers. For service fees where the Group performance 

obligations are satisfied over time, the Group recognises revenue either using output or input measurement of 

value methods relevant to the type of service.  

 

The Group recognises contract liabilities for consideration received in respects of unsatisfied performance 

obligations and reports these amounts as other liabilities in its Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  

Similarly, if the Group satisfies a performance obligation before it receives the consideration, the Group 

recognises as a receivable in its Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, depending on whether something 

other than the passage of time is required before the consideration is due.  

 

Cloud services 

 

The Group provides services to customers through implied customary business to access a Calligo created cloud 

based platform with access to third party software provider applications. Access to third party software provider 

applications is permitted under Calligo’s licenses with a third party licensor or a SPLA agreement with Microsoft. 

Multi-tenant clients will be hosted on multi-tenanted servers and dedicated clients will be hosted on dedicated 

servers. Back up services are provided across servers upon request.  Virtual desktops to run platforms can also be 

provided as part of the service.  Cloud Services revenue is determined over time using the output measurement 

value method.  

 

Managed services 

 

The Group also provides services for customers through implied customary business for services pertaining to 

system administration, environment patching, network operations, service desk support and managed Microsoft 

365 and business cloud voice. Managed services revenue is determined over time using the output measurement 

value method. 

 

Data Insight services 

 

The Group provides Data Insights consulting services relating to the provision of data strategy, governance, 

architecture, engineering, analytics, and visualisation services. These services typically involve developing a 

customer-specific design with billing based on a specified payment schedule within each customers respective 

statement of work. 
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IT professional services 

 

The Group provides IT consulting services relating to ad hoc advisory work and cloud migration projects. These 

services involve developing customer-specific IT service requirements with billings based on a specified payment 

schedule within each customers’ respective statement of work. These services are reported as non-recurring 

revenue in the cloud services part of the business. 

 

Privacy services 

 

The Group provides privacy consulting services relating to data privacy officer as a service as well as data services 

around data privacy regulation including GAP analysis and assurance. These services involve developing a 

customer-specific privacy service requirement with billings based on a specified payment schedule within each 

customers respective statement of work. 

 

Revenue for all consulting services is recognised over time if the schedule ensures the Group is entitled to payment 

for its performance to date throughout the contract period (including a profit margin that, in percentage terms, is 

equal to or more than the final expected profit margin). In other cases, the payment schedule enables the Group 

to always recover at least its costs in the contract but not necessarily a full or proportionate profit margin. In these 

cases, taking into consideration the applicable contract law, the Group does not have has an enforceable right to 

payment for performance completed to date and recognises revenue only on delivery and acceptance of the 

deliverables. 

 

Revenue for over-time contracts is recognised on a time-and-materials basis as services are provided and costs 

are expensed as incurred. Amounts remaining unbilled at the end of a reporting period are presented in the 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as accounts receivable if only the passage of time is required before 

payment of these amounts will be due or as contract assets if payment is conditional on future performance.  

 

These arrangements include detailed customer payment schedules. When payments received from customers 

exceed revenue recognised to date on a particular contract, any excess (a contract liability) is reported in the 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position under contract liabilities. 

 

Hardware sales 

 

The Group offers the sale of hardware via third parties to the customers for other services on a customary business 

basis. The sales can include third party warranties. The cost in addition to our handling charge is recognised when 

or as the Group transfers control of the asset and warranty where applicable to the customer. 

 

For stand-alone sales of hardware without installation services, control transfers when the customer takes delivery 

of the hardware.  

 

Revenue is determined and recognised at a point in time basis using output measurement method. The third-party 

costs are expensed on delivery and acceptance (i.e. when the related revenue is recognised) and allocated to cost 

of sales. 

 

Software sales 

 

Revenue from the sale of third-party non-customised third-party software and where applicable related third-party 

warranties is recognised when or as the Group transfers control of the asset to the customer.  

 

For stand-alone sales of software without installation services, control transfers when the customer downloads 

access to the software.  

 

Revenue is determined and recognised at a point in time basis using the output measurement method. The third-

party costs are expensed on delivery and acceptance (i.e. when the related revenue is recognised) and allocated to 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 68A8208E-72AB-4828-8DD7-EF85C9D194B7



 

CALLIGO (UK) LIMITED 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

27 

 

cost of sales. 

 

e) Cost of sales 

Cost of sales are recognised on an accruals basis for services procured in connection with the revenue generating 

activities of the Group. Where Calligo is principal in the customer contractual arrangement they will ensure cost 

that relates directly to the customer contract are allocated to cost of sales, these costs may include direct labour, 

direct materials and pass through costs to the customer.  If Calligo’s contractual arrangement with a customer is 

on an agent basis, only direct materials and pass-through costs incurred by the Group and under its control will 

be allocated to cost of sales. 

 

f) Operating expenses 

Operating expenses are recognised in Consolidated Income Statement upon utilisation of the service or as 

incurred.  

 

g) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement over the term of the debt using the effective 

interest method so that the amount charged is at a constant rate on the carrying amount. Issue costs are expensed 

in the Consolidated Income Statement. 

 

h) Income Taxation 

Tax expense recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax 

not recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

 

The calculation of current and deferred tax is based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period (see note 9). Deferred income taxes are calculated using 

the liability method. The carrying amounts of deferred tax are reviewed at the end of each reporting period based 

on its most likely amount and adjusted if needed. Assessing the most likely amount of current and deferred tax in 

case of uncertainties (e.g. as a result of the need to interpreting the requirements of the applicable tax law), requires 

the group to apply judgments in considering whether it is probable that the taxation authority will accept the tax 

treatment retained. 

 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it is probable that the underlying tax loss or deductible temporary 

difference will be utilised against future taxable income. This is assessed based on the Group’s forecast of future 

operating results, adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits on the use of any 

unused tax loss or credit. 

 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised in full, although IAS 12 specifies limited exemptions. As a result 

of these exemptions the Group does not recognise deferred tax on temporary differences relating to goodwill, or 

to its investments in subsidiaries (only to the extent that the group control the timing of the reversal of the taxable 

temporary difference and that reversal is not likely to occur in the foreseeable future). The Group does not offset 

deferred tax assets and liabilities unless it has a legally enforceable right to do so and intends to settle on a net 

basis. 

 

i) Foreign currency translation 

Functional and presentation currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in £, which is also the functional currency of the parent 

company. 
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Foreign currency transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group entity, using the 

exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and losses 

resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the remeasurement of monetary items denominated in 

foreign currency at period-end exchange rates are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. 

Non-monetary items are not retranslated at the period-end. They are measured at historical cost and translated 

using the exchange rates at the transaction date. 

 

Foreign operations 

In the Group’s financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of Group entities with a functional 

currency other than the GBP are translated into GBP upon consolidation. The functional currencies of entities 

within the Group have remained unchanged during the reporting period. 

On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been translated into GBP at the closing rate at the reporting date. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity have been treated as assets and 

liabilities of the foreign entity and translated into GBP at the closing rate. Income and expenses have been 

translated into GBP at the average rate over the reporting period. Exchange differences are charged or credited to 

other comprehensive income and recognised in the currency translation reserve in equity. On disposal of a foreign 

operation, the related cumulative translation differences recognised in equity are reclassified to profit or loss and 

are recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 

 

j) Dividends  

Dividends and other distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the financial 

statements in the period in which the dividends and other distributions are approved by the Company’s 

shareholders. These amounts are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity. 

 

k) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment comprising IT equipment, other equipment, motor vehicles and leasehold 

improvements are initially recognised at acquisition cost, including any costs directly attributable to bringing the 

assets to the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the 

Group’s management. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses. 

 

Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis to write down the cost less estimated residual value of property, 

plant and equipment over the useful life of the asset. The following useful lives are applied: 

 

• Leasehold improvements:  Term of lease 

• Right of Use Assets:   3 to 15 years 

• IT equipment:    3 to 5 years 

• Other equipment:   3 to 12 years 

• Motor vehicles   5 years 

 

Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between 

the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognised in the Consolidated Income 

Statement either within other income or other expenses. 

 

The value of property, plant and equipment is assessed as per the accounting policy outlined in note 2.4.c. 
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l) Other intangible assets 

Initial recognition of other intangible assets 

 

Customer lists 

Customer lists acquired in a business combination that qualify for separate recognition are recognised as intangible 

assets at their fair value using an income valuation approach method. The value is determined by estimating the 

present value of future economic benefits attributable to the Group and incorporating as much observable market 

data into the valuation related to the acquired customer list. This approach does rely on projected financial 

information and discounted rates based on group borrowing rates. Customer lists are deemed to have a finite life. 

 

Intellectual property 

Intellectual property, including IP addresses, acquired is initially recognised at acquisition cost including any costs 

directly attributable to bringing the assets to a condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the 

manner intended by the Group’s management. Intellectual property is deemed to have an indefinite useful life. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

 

All intangible assets with a finite life, are accounted for using the cost model whereby capitalised costs are 

amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Residual values and useful lives are reviewed 

at each reporting date. In addition, they are subject to impairment testing as described in note 2.4.m. The following 

useful lives are applied: 

 

• Customer lists:   4 to 6 years 

• Intellectual property: Infinite life 

 

Amortisation has been included within depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets. 

 

Subsequent expenditure on the maintenance of other intangible assets is expensed as incurred. 

 

When an intangible asset is disposed of, the gain or loss on disposal is determined as the difference between the 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss within other income or other 

expenses. 

 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised but are tested for impairment annually at each CGU 

level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to 

be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 

 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised and are tested for impairment annually at each CGU level.  

 

m) Leases 

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract.  

 

Finance Leases 

A finance lease conveys the right to direct the use and obtain substantially all the economic benefits of an identified 

asset for a period in exchange for consideration. 

 

The Group makes use of leasing arrangements principally for the provision of office space and IT equipment. 

These have all been identified to be finance leases. The lease contracts for offices are typically negotiated for 

terms of between 3 and 12.5 years and some of these have extension terms. Lease terms for IT equipment are 

between 6 months and 6 years without any extension terms. The Group does not enter into sale and leaseback 

arrangements. All the leases are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide variety of different terms 

and conditions such as purchase options and escalation clauses. 
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Some lease contracts contain both lease and non-lease components. These non-lease components are usually 

associated with facilities management services at offices and servicing. The Group has elected to separate its 

leases for offices into lease and non-lease components and accounts for these contracts as lease and non-lease 

components based on their relative stand-alone prices. 

 

Right of use asset 

At finance lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right of use asset in its Consolidated Statement of 

Financial Position. The right of use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the 

lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the 

asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any 

incentives received). 

 

The Group depreciates the right of use asset on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the 

earlier of the end of the useful life of the right of use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses 

the right of use asset for impairment when such indicators exist. 

 

Useful lives: 
Property Leases   Term range from 1 – 12.5 years 

IT Equipment Leases Term range from 1 – 1.5 years 

 

Expected useful lives are determined by reference to comparable owned assets or the lease term, if shorter. 

Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least annually. 

 

Where the lessor has made a leasehold improvement contribution upon commencement of the lease (as a lease 

incentive) and the Group is not required to reimburse, the Group determines the contribution value. The Group 

adds the value of the leasehold improvement to the leasehold property asset and depreciates over the life of the 

lease on a straight-line basis.  A reduction to the right of use asset is processed for the same value and this 

adjustment is written back to the Consolidated Income Statement over the life of the lease on a straight-line basis.  

 

Lease Liability  

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments 

unpaid at that date, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate relevant to each lease at the commencement 

date of the lease. If no rate is identified, the rate is determined following general guidance from advisors. This 

rate is adjusted should the lessee entity have a different risk profile to that of the Group. 

 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments, variable 

payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and 

payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised. 

 

After initial measurement, the liability will be reduced by lease payments that are allocated between repayments 

of principal and finance costs. The finance cost is the amount that produces a constant periodic rate of interest on 

the remaining balance of the lease liability. 

 

The lease liability is reassessed when there is a change in the lease payments. Changes in lease payments arise 

from a change in the lease term or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase a leased asset. The revised 

lease payments are discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of reassessment when the 

rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. The amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability is 

continued as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the right of use asset, the exception being when the carrying 

amount of the right of use asset has been reduced to zero, then any excess is recognised in the Consolidated Income 

Statement. 

 

Payments under leases can also change when there is either a change in the amounts expected to be paid under 

residual value guarantees or when future payments change through an index or a rate used to determine those 

payments, including changes in market rental rates following a market rent review. The lease liability is 
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remeasured only when the adjustment to lease payments takes effect and the revised contractual payments for the 

remainder of the lease term are discounted using an unchanged discount rate, except for where the change in lease 

payments results from a change in floating interest rates, in which case the discount rate is amended to reflect the 

change in interest rates.  

 

To respond to business needs, particularly in the demand for office space, the Group will enter negotiations with 

landlords to either increase or decrease available office space or to renegotiate amounts payable under the 

respective leases. In some instances, the Group can increase office capacity by taking additional floors available 

and therefore agrees with the landlord to pay an amount that is commensurate with the stand-alone pricing adjusted 

to reflect the particular contract terms. In these situations, the contractual agreement is treated as a new lease and 

accounted for accordingly. 

 

In other instances, the Group can negotiate a change to a lease such as reducing the amount of office space taken, 

reducing the lease term or by reducing the total amount payable under the lease, both of which were not part of 

the original terms and conditions of the lease. In these situations, the Group does not account for the changes as 

though there is a new lease. Instead, the revised contractual payments are discounted using a revised discount rate 

at the date the lease is effectively modified. For the reasons explained above, the discount rate used is the Group’s 

incremental borrowing rate relevant to the market the lease is held, determined at the modification date, as the 

rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. 

 

The remeasurement of the lease liability to reflect the full or partial termination of the lease for lease modifications 

that reduce the scope of the lease, is dealt with by a reduction in the carrying amount of the right of use asset. Any 

gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease is recognised in profit or loss. The right of use 

asset is adjusted for all other lease modifications. 

 

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets as operating leases. These 

leases relate to office space and certain IT equipment. Instead of recognising a right of use asset and lease liability, 

the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-

line basis over the lease term. 

 

The Group only reflects leases on this basis whereby the contract conveys Calligo’s right to control the contracted 

asset. 

 

Operating Lease 

The Group assesses leases to determine whether the lease transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership to the Group. Those assets that do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards are classified as 

operating leases. The Group holds operating leases for some licenced accommodation and data centres. Costs of 

operating leases are processed directly in the Consolidated Income Statement.  

 

The Group as a lessor 

Subleases are classified as a finance lease if the sublease transfers all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 

of the underlying asset, and as an operating lease if all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the 

underlying asset are not transferred. In accordance with IFRS 16, the ‘underlying asset’ is the right of use asset 

arising from the headlease. For finance leases, at the commencement date of the sublease, the right of use asset 

on the headlease is derecognised, and a ‘net investment in the lease’ finance lease receivable is recognised. The 

lease liability on the headlease continues to be recognised. The interest rate implicit in the lease is used to measure 

the net investment in the lease, unless it cannot be readily determined, in which case the discount rate used for the 

headlease is used, adjusted for any initial direct costs associated with the sublease.  
  
Any difference at the commencement date, between the net investment in the lease recognised, and the right of 

use asset on the headlease derecognised, is recognised immediately in profit and loss, as either a gain or a loss. 

Finance income is recognised over the lease term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return 

on the net investment in the lease. Lease payments relating to the period are applied against the gross investment 

in the lease to reduce both the principal and the unearned finance income. 
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The lease liability on the headlease, and the net investment in the lease on the sublease, are presented gross in the 

financial statements. Interest payable arising on the lease liability on the headlease, and investment income arising 

on the net investment in the lease on the sublease, are presented gross in the financial statements. 
 

n) Impairment testing of goodwill, other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 

For impairment assessment purposes, net assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely 

independent cash inflows (cash-generating units). The Group’s CGUs are based on local geographical trading 

businesses.  Goodwill is allocated to the CGU that is expected to benefit from synergies of a related business 

combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which management monitors goodwill. 

 

CGUs are assessed annually for impairment loss. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 

CGUs carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and 

value-in-use. To determine the value-in-use and/or value-less-costs of disposal, management estimates expected 

future cash flows from each CGU based on Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation 

(EBITDA) growth estimates and determines a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those 

cash flows. The data used for impairment testing procedures is directly linked to the Group’s latest approved 

budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of future reorganisations and asset enhancements. Discount 

factors are determined individually for each CGU and reflect current market assessments of the time value of 

money and asset-specific risk factors. 

 

Impairment losses for CGU reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit. 

Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the CGU. 

 

Except for goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications an impairment loss previously 

recognised may no longer exist. An impairment loss is reversed if the assets or CGUs recoverable amount exceeds 

its carrying amount, excluding goodwill.  The Group did not reverse any previous period impairment losses in 

2023. 

 

o) Financial instruments 

Recognition and derecognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the financial instrument. 

 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or 

when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is 

derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled, or expires. 

 

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets 

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the 

transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for 

transaction costs (where applicable). 

 

Financial assets, are classified into one of the following categories: 

• amortised cost 

• fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), or 

• fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

 

The classification is determined by both: 

• the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset, and 

• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 
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All revenue and expenses relating to financial assets that are valued using FVTPL or FVOCI that are recognised 

in profit or loss are presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment 

of trade receivables which is presented within other expenses. 

 

For the periods presented the Group presented all financial assets at amortised cost. 

 

Subsequent measurement of financial assets  

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated 

as FVTPL):  

• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual 

cash flows, and  

• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 

on the principal amount outstanding.  

 

Impairment of financial assets 

IFRS 9’s impairment requirements use forward-looking information to recognise expected credit losses – the 

‘expected credit loss (ECL) model’. Instruments within the scope of the requirements included loans and other 

debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, trade receivables, contract assets recognised 

and measured under IFRS 15. 

 

The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit 

losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected 

collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument. 

 

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over 

the expected life of the financial instrument. 

 

Trade and other receivables 

The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables and records the loss 

allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, 

considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial instrument. The Group uses its 

historical experience, external indicators, and forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses 

using a provision matrix. 

 

The Group assesses impairment of trade receivables on a collective basis as they possess shared credit risk 

characteristics they have been grouped based on the days past due. Refer to note 28 for a detailed analysis of how 

the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 are applied.  

 

Where consistent with the provisioning horizon, the possible impact of climate risks on the determination of 

expected credit losses has been integrated. 

 

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 

The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables and contract liabilities. 

 

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless 

the Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL. 

 

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for 

derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains 

or losses recognised in profit or loss. The group hold no derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL. 

The bond borrowing facility is valued based on amortised cost, as the bond has a static value on the Frankfurt 

stock exchange. 
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All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or 

loss are included within finance costs or finance income. 

 

p) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-term, highly 

liquid investments maturing within 90 days from the date of acquisition that are readily convertible into known 

amounts of cash, and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  

 

q) Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

Provisions for legal disputes, onerous contracts or other claims are recognised when the Group has a present legal 

or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be 

required from the Group and amounts can be estimated reliably. The timing or amount of the outflow may still be 

uncertain. 

 

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most 

reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present 

obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 

settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their 

present values, where the time value of money is material. 

 

No liability is recognised if an outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is not probable. 

Such situations are disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the outflow of resources is remote. 

 

r) Equity and reserves  

Share capital represents the nominal (par) value of shares that have been issued. Incremental costs directly 

attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

 

Share premium includes any premiums received on the issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated 

with the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium, net of any related income tax benefits. 

 

The Group recorded IFRS 16 Lease changes from UK GAAP pre 1st January 2021 in a change in accounting 

policy reserve, this was consolidated into the 1 January 2021 retained earnings balance. 

 

Retained earnings includes all current and prior period retained profits and share based employee remuneration.  

 

All transactions with owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity. 

 

s) Pension plans 

The Group pays fixed defined contributions into independent entities in relation to several retirement plans for 

individual employees. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay contributions in addition to its 

fixed contributions, which are recognised as an expense in the period that related employee services are received.  

 

t) Going concern 

The Directors have prepared revised cash flow projections which show that the Group has a reasonable expectation 

of maintaining sufficient working capital to enable the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due for the 

foreseeable future, being a period of not less than 12 months from the date of approval of this report. The Group 

has the financial support of its immediate parent company and ultimate controlling party in the execution of its 

strategy. 

 

The Group is in a net liability position of £42,625,144 (2022: net liability position of £28,277,790 restated).  The 

net liability is largely attributable to the historic amortisation and impairment of goodwill, cumulative interest cost 
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on third party borrowings and the high element of non-recurring costs in each of the four financial years ended 31 

December 2023. The Group continues to generate a positive EBITDA and the Directors are confident in the ability 

to grow the business in both the data insights and cloud industry segments particularly.   

 

Since the year end, the Group has negotiated terms of the bond loan following a series of discussions with the 

bondholders in late 2023. The key new terms were (i) an extension of the maturity/repayment date to December 

2028 (ii) the fixing of the interest on the bond loan at 7% per annum as a PIK arrangement compounded on each 

interest payment date and capitalised into the capital balance for settlement upon maturity. As part of these 

refinance discussions, the principal shareholder invested a further £3m in the business and this was received on 5 

February 2024. This investment was by way of a loan facility which bears interest at 6% per annum and which is 

also settled by way of a PIK arrangement with no cash payable until December 2028.  

 

As such, the Directors do not believe that the reported net liability is a going concern issue and they continue to 

adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements. 

 
3 Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation 

uncertainty 
 

When preparing the Group’s consolidated financial statements, management makes a number of judgements, 

estimates and assumptions about the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. 

 

The following are the judgements made by management in applying the accounting policies of the Group that 

have the most significant effect on these consolidated financial statements. 

 

Recognition of contract revenue over time or at a point in time  

For some of the Group’s contracts with customers significant judgement is required to assess whether control of 

the related performance obligation(s) transfers to the customer over time or at a point in time in accordance with 

IFRS 15. Specifically, for contracts that involve developing a customer-specific requirements with no alternative 

use to the Group, judgement is needed to determine whether the Group is entitled to payment for its performance 

throughout the contract period if the customer sought to cancel the contract. This relates mainly to consulting 

contracts for Cloud services, Data Insights and Privacy services. In making this assessment the Group compares 

the amount it is entitled to collect based on the agreed payment schedule to the estimated level of costs at all stages 

in the contract. In making this judgement the Group has considered the applicable contract law in the event of a 

customer seeking to cancel a contact without having the right to do so and has concluded that the court of law 

would not necessarily enforce specific contract performance. 

 

Climate-related matters  

The potential impact of climate-related matters has been considered in the preparation of these financial 

statements, including environmental legislation and commitments made by the Group which may affect the value 

of financial assets and liabilities. In many cases, the judgements applied refer to the recoverable amount of assets 

and the useful life of tangible assets and CGU assessment (note 10).  

 

The long-term consequences of climate changes on financial statements are difficult to predict and require entities 

to make significant assumptions and develop estimates.  

 

Assumptions used by the Group are subject to uncertainties relating to regulatory changes (e.g. green taxes 

adopted by governments), new environmental commitments made by the Group to meet its carbon reduction goals, 

development of new technologies, depletion of natural resources used to produce telecommunication hardware, 

etc. Due to these uncertainties, the figures reported in the Group’s future financial statements could differ from 

the estimates established at the time these financial statements were approved (see note 10 – Goodwill, note 14 – 

Property, plant and equipment, note 15 – Right of use assets, note 21 - Lease Liabilities and note 29 - Contingent 

Liabilities). 
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Recognition of deferred tax assets  

The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised is based on an assessment of the probability that future 

taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry-forwards 

can be utilised. In addition, significant judgement is required in assessing the impact of any legal or economic 

limits or uncertainties in various tax jurisdictions. 

 

The Directors have not recognised deferred tax assets because they do not have sufficient confidence that taxable 

profits will arise in the relevant jurisdictions in the short term. The Group has unrecognised deferred tax assets of 

£7,232,753 (2022: £8,988,000). The deferred tax asset arises from losses, intangible assets and other timing 

differences of £29,657,682 (2022: £39,018,000). 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets and goodwill 

In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset or CGU (net of 

intercompany balances) based on expected future cash flows and uses an interest rate to discount them. Estimation 

uncertainty relates to assumptions about future operating results and the determination of a suitable discount rate. 

In 2023, the Group recognised an impairment loss on goodwill (see note 10). 

 

Significant Estimates and assumptions  

Information about estimates and assumptions that may have the most significant effect on recognition and 

measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially 

different. 

 

Useful lives and residual values of depreciable assets 

 

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives and residual values of depreciable assets at each reporting 

date, based on the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technological 

obsolescence that may change the utility of certain software and IT equipment and environmental regulations that 

can make polluting assets to be depreciated more quickly. 

 

Business combinations 

Management uses various valuation techniques when determining the fair values of certain assets and liabilities 

acquired in a business combination. In particular, the fair value of contingent consideration is dependent on the 

outcome of many variables including the acquirees’ future profitability. No businesses were acquired in 2023. 

 

Customer Lists valuation 

 

Management have used various valuation techniques when determining the fair value of acquired customers using 

prior year and forecasted sales over a 5 year period.  Consideration is dependant on anticipated attrition, future 

EBITDA %, tax rate and discount rate. No customer lists were acquired in 2023. 

 

Fair value measurement 

Refer to accounting policies note 2.4.c.  

 

The Group measures based on fair value, market-based techniques, when the market information is available.  The 

Group does not have any derivatives or financial assets and liabilities that can be valued based on observable 

market information.  

 

All of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are valued on an amortised cost method as these balances are not 

in an active traded market.  

 

Non financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost.   
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All asset and liability balances are fair value assessed on a CGU (CGU) basis and when the net assets value is 

higher than the estimated recoverable value of the overall CGU, an impairment value is determined and processed 

firstly against the Goodwill relevant to the CGU (refer to accounting policies note 2.4.n). 

 

Management uses various valuation techniques to determine the fair value of each CGU within the group. This 

involves developing estimates and assumptions consistent with how market participants would price each CGU. 

Management bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible, but this is not always available. In that 

case, management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that 

would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date. 

Litigations and claims 

The Directors have applied judgment in determining liabilities in respect of an unfair dismissal claim as outlined 

in note 30. 

 

Leases – determination of the appropriate discount rate to measure lease liabilities  

As noted above, the Group enters into leases with third-party landlords and as a consequence the rate implicit in 

the relevant lease is not readily determinable. Therefore, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the 

discount rate for determining its lease liabilities at the lease commencement date. The incremental borrowing rate 

is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over similar terms which requires estimations 

when no observable rates are available.  If the rate of interest as at the transition date is unavailable, the borrowing 

rate as at the date of transition has been applied. 

 

The Group undertakes research to determine what interest rate they would expect to charge the Group to borrow 

money to purchase a similar asset to that which is being leased. These rates are, where necessary, then adjusted 

to reflect the credit worthiness of the entity entering into the lease and the specific condition of the underlying 

leased asset. The estimated incremental borrowing rate is higher than that of the parent company for leases entered 

into by its subsidiary undertakings. 
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4 Segment information 
 

The Group’s revenue disaggregated by primary geographical markets and service lines is as follows: 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 

 Cloud  

Services 

Managed 

Services  

Data 

Insights 

Privacy 

Services 

Hardware & 

Software 

Other Total 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

UK 3,697,476 295,068 106,877 786,992 214,687 24,712 5,125,812 

Ireland 1,153,419 702,463 3,800 - 284,577 19,124 2,163,383 

Canada 3,011,732 1,425,299 - - 181,825 55,922 4,674,778 

USA 93,830 - 5,099,306 - 247,684 148,956 5,589,776 

 7,956,457 2,422,830 5,209,983 786,992 928,773 248,714 17,553,749 

        

Services transferred 7,956,457 2,422,830 5,209,983 786,992 - 248,714 16,624,976 

Goods transferred - - - - 928,773 - 928,773 

 7,956,457 2,422,830 5,209,983 786,992 928,773 248,714 17,553,749 

 

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (restated – note a) 

 Cloud  

Services 

Managed 

Services  

Data 

Insights 

Privacy 

Services 

Hardware & 

Software 

Other Total 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

UK 3,327,302 402,627 78,000 698,616 181,703 15,789 4,704,037 

Ireland 1,251,521 1,303,035 - 19,585 804,832 13,967 3,392,940 

Canada 3,366,353 2,389,302 18,572 - 844,315 84,730 6,703,272 

USA 39,736 - 6,983,447 14,607 294,099 263,046 7,594,935 

 7,984,912 4,094,964 7,080,019 732,808 2,124,949 377,532 22,395,184 

        

Services transferred 7,984,912 4,094,964 7,080,019 732,808 - 377,532 20,270,235 

Goods transferred - - - - 2,124,949 - 2,124,949 

 7,984,912 4,094,964 7,080,019 732,808 2,124,949 377,532 22,395,184 

        

 

Note a:  Other revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 includes an additional £18,429 from the figures 

previously reported. This relates to a correction of an error as disclosed in note 29. 

 

The Group has identified the following geographic areas as its basis of segmentation.  

 

 Americas 

 Europe  

 

Each of these operating segments have an individual appointed as Segment Finance Lead responsible for these 

segments, who in turn reports to the Chief Financial Officer.  

 

The Group measures segment performance based on the total revenues, gross profit and EBITDA before 

separately disclosed costs and other expense and exceptional items.  

 

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in note 2.4. Transactions 

between reportable segments are accounted for at historic cost less impairment and are eliminated on 

consolidation. 
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The following tables present certain results, assets and liabilities information regarding the Group’s segments. 

  

Europe 

 

Americas 

 

Total 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 

Restated 

2023 2022 

Restated 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Revenue 7,289,195 8,096,977 10,264,554 14,298,207 17,553,749 22,395,184 

       

EBITDA (1,217,427) (1,168,552) 1,424,294 2,095,123 206,867 926,571 

 

Loss for the year 

 (7,021,766) 

 

(5,961,891) 

(7,448,683) 

 

(1,516,992) 

(14,470,449) 

 

(7,478,883) 

  

Europe 

 

Americas 

 

Total 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 

Restated 

2023 2022 

Restated 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Segment assets 15,746,557 5,014,589 13,013,340 18,358,428 28,759,897 23,373,017 

Segment liabilities (49,792,920) (47,513,263) (21,592,120) (4,137,543) (71,385,040) (51,650,806) 

Net Assets (34,046,363) (42,498,674) (8,578,780) 14,220,885 (42,625,143) (28,277,789) 

 

5 Employee benefits expense 
 

Expenses recognised for employee benefits are analysed below: 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Wages, salaries 7,976,912 9,823,486 

Social security costs 804,130 983,737 

Pension costs 277,806 321,583 

Healthcare costs 35,459 65,959 

Contractors 419,362 643,576 

Recruitment costs 2,649 135,201 

Training and events 15,857 19,214 

Travel costs 176,852 239,672 

Other  334,399 327,286 

   

 10,043,426 12,559,714 

 

Staff numbers and costs 

 The average number of persons employed by the Group (including directors) during the year, analysed by 

category, was as follows: 

  2023 2022 

   

Number of permanent employees 106 146 
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The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:   

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Wages and salaries 7,976,912 9,823,486 

Social security costs 804,130 983,737 

Pensions 277,806 321,583 

   

 9,058,848 11,128,806 

Pensions and other employee obligations 

The company only offers defined contribution pension plans.  

 

6 Other expenses 

 

Other expenses are analysed below: 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Marketing 164,950 87,589 

Establishment 575,103 654,790 

IT 101,606 122,104 

Legal & professional (note 1) 262,853 270,925 

Subscriptions 121,254 196,624 

Restructuring costs 722,378 728,047 

Debt raise and debt repayment costs 483,505 811,145 

M&A costs 83,132 99,163 

Potential Legal Claim - 45,353 

Other 309,620 423,413 

   

 2,824,401 3,439,153 

  

Note 1: includes audit fees of £62,126 (2022: £92,868). 

 

7 Finance costs and finance income 
 

Finance costs for the reporting periods consist of the following: 

 2023 2022 

Finance income £ £ 

Interest income (1,770) (36,522) 

   

Finance costs   

Debt finance 4,090,911 3,638,534 

Finance leases & hire purchase contracts 249,944 347,740 

Other interest & charges 36,737 43,743 

   

 4,377,592 4,030,017 
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8 Other financial items 
 

Other financial items are analysed below: 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Foreign exchange 14,660 142,865 

(Profit)/loss on sale of assets 15,617 (61,990) 

   

 30,277 80,875 

 

9 Tax expense 
  2023  2022 

   £  £ 

Current charge – overseas subsidiaries (note 1) 205,206 178,153 

   

 205,206 178,153 

 

Note 1:  Included in this amount is £41,566 capital gains tax on the sale of a business unit in Ireland (2022: nil) 

and Washington State tax of £73,651 (2022: £79,705). 

 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

   2023  2022 

 £ £ 

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (14,265,243) (7,300,730) 

   

Tax on loss on ordinary activities before taxation (3,298,322) (1,474,959) 

(at weighted average statutory rate of 23.12% (2022: 20.19%)   

   

Factors affecting tax charge for the year:   

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 4,044 4,329 

Movement in unrecognised deferred tax assets 3,265,524 1,470,631 

Overseas tax adjustments 163,640 78,644 

Adjustment in respect of prior years 70,320 99,508 

   

Total current income tax (credit)/charge for the year 205,206 178,153 

 

The Company is subject to UK income tax at the rate of 23.5%, a hybrid rate based on 19% applying until 31 

March 2023 and 25% applying from 1 April 2023.    

 

The subsidiary entities bear the following corporate tax rates for both 2023 and 2022 – Ireland 12.5%, Canada 

26.5% and USA 21%. 

  

No deferred tax asset has been recognised on these losses in these financial statements as the Directors do not 

have sufficient confidence that taxable profits will arise in the relevant jurisdictions in the short term.   The Group 

has unrecognised deferred tax assets of £7,232,753 (2022: £8,988,000). The deferred tax asset arises from losses, 

intangible assets and other timing differences of £29,657,682 (2022: £39,018,000). 
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10 Goodwill 
 

The movements in the net carrying amount of goodwill are as follows: 

  Group 

Cost or valuation  £ 

At 1 January 2023   30,499,542 

Acquisitions in the year   - 

Foreign exchange translation differences  (677,603) 

   

At 31 December 2023  29,821,939 

   

Accumulated amortisation   

At 1 January 2023  19,256,316 

Impairment for the year  6,298,169 

Foreign exchange translation differences  (242,165) 

   

At 31 December 2023  25,312,320 

   

Net book value   

At 31 December 2023  4,509,619 

   

At 31 December 2022  11,243,226 

 

  Company 

Cost or valuation  £ 

At 1 January 2023   7,969,632 

Acquisitions in the year   - 

Foreign exchange translation differences  - 

   

At 31 December 2023  7,969,632 

   

Accumulated amortisation   

At 1 January 2023  7,614,932 

Adjustment  (243,199) 

Impairment for the year  597,899 

Foreign exchange translation differences  - 

   

At 31 December 2023  7,969,632 

   

Net book value   

At 31 December 2023  - 

   

At 31 December 2022  354,700 
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Impairment testing 

For the purpose of annual impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the defined CGUs (the group has defined 

these to be the local operating businesses) expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combinations in 

which the goodwill arises and is compared to its recoverable value. 

 

The Group tests CGUs with goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there is an indication that a 

CGU to which goodwill has been allocated may be impaired. The recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of 

the CGU’s fair value less cost of disposal (‘FVLCD’) and its value-in-use.  

 

FVLCD is determined based on the projected income approach, using forecasted EBITDA, growth rates and a 

discount factor based on the Group’s borrowing rate (see note 2.4.c & n). 

 

Growth rates  

The period relating to the full year 31 December 2024 is based on the Group’s internal budget, the period for the 

year ending 2025 is an annualised calculation of the quarter 4 performance in December 2024. All subsequent 

periods assume a prudent long-term average growth rate of 3%. 

 

At this stage and considering the direct exposure of the Group to climate changes, management has considered 

growth rates were not significantly affected and were still consistent with long term prospects of its industry and 

expectations from market participants. Despite risks mentioned in note 28, climate-related matters could 

nevertheless generate new business opportunities for the Group. 

 

Discount rates  

The discount rates reflect the appropriate Group’s borrowing rate.  

 

Cash flow assumptions  

Projections of cash flows as referred to above are extracted from the Group’s business plan for the next financial 

year as adjusted for growth thereafter.  

 

The recoverable amount of the CGUs were substantially in excess of its carrying amount, with the exception of 

Ireland and Canada. The Ireland goodwill impairment loss of £1,071,632 (£597,899 included in the UK company) 

in 2023 (2022: £169,781) and the Canada goodwill impairment loss of £5,226,537 in 2023 (2022: £0) was included 

within depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets.  

 

No acquisitions and disposals were made in the group in 2023 (2022: nil). 
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11 Investment in Subsidiaries (Company) 

Cost   £ 

At 1 January 2023   7,063,926 

Adjustment  57,565 

Acquisitions in the year   998 

   

At 31 December 2023  7,122,489 

   

Net book value   

At 31 December 2023  7,122,489 

   

At 31 December 2022  7,063,926 

Investments in subsidiaries are measured initially at cost, which is normally the transaction price. Subsequent to 

initial recognition investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less impairment. Any impairment charges are 

recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. See note 31 for a list of the Company’s principal subsidiaries. 

 

12 Other intangible assets 

 

Details of the Group’s other intangible assets and their carrying amounts are as follows: 

 

Group Customer List  IP addresses Total 

Cost or valuation £ £ £ 

At 1 January 2023  3,222,643 150,652 3,373,295 

Additions in the year  - 78,590 78,590 

Foreign exchange translation differences (160,007) (5,083) (165,090) 

    

At 31 December 2023 3,062,636 224,159 3,286,795 

    

Accumulated amortisation    

At 1 January 2023 1,208,491 - 1,208,491 

Charge for the year 627,130 - 627,130 

Foreign exchange translation differences (74,606) - (74,606) 

    

At 31 December 2023 1,761,015 - 1,761,015 

    

Net book value    

At 31 December 2023 

 

1,301,621 224,159 1,525,780 

    

At 31 December 2022 2,014,152 150,652 2,164,804 

No impairment loss was recognised for other intangible assets. 

 

All amortisation and impairment charges are included within depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-

financial assets.  

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 68A8208E-72AB-4828-8DD7-EF85C9D194B7



 

CALLIGO (UK) LIMITED 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

45 

 

13 Other long term assets 
 

Other long term assets for the reporting periods consist of the following: 

 2023  

Group 

2022  

Group 

2023 

Company 

2022 

Company 

  Restated   

 £ £ £ £ 

Receivable from sale of business 63,822 143,305 - - 

Net investment in sublease 218,333 429,499 - - 

Escrow debtor 138,133 170,622 - - 

     

 420,288 743,426 - - 

 

14 Property, plant and equipment 

 

Details of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and their carrying amounts are as follows: 

 

Group Other 

Equipment 

Computer 

Equipment 

Leasehold 

improvement  

Motor 

vehicles 

Total 

Cost or valuation £ £ £ £ £ 

At 1 January 2023  1,170,061 3,348,421 1,438,700 66,005 6,023,187 

Additions 18,511 154,312 1,051,079 - 1,223,902 

Disposals (15,675) (128,121) - (23,241) (167,037) 

Reclassifications (180,701) 110,345 62,209 - (8,147) 

Foreign exchange translation 

differences 
(20,857) (61,229) (95,556) (1,551) (179,193) 

      

At 31 December 2023 971,339 3,423,728 2,456,432 41,213 6,892,712 

      

Accumulated depreciation      

At 1 January 2023 688,306 2,711,702 639,885 31,501 4,071,394 

Charge for the year 212,215 450,578 184,319 14,933 862,045 

Disposals (13,193) (104,095) - (9,618) (126,906) 

Reclassifications (164,972) 110,344 46,479 - (8,149) 

Foreign exchange translation 

differences 
(11,267) (51,378) (19,565) (456) (82,666) 

      

At 31 December 2023 711,089 3,117,151 851,118 36,360 4,715,718 

      

Net book value      

At 31 December 2023 260,250 306,577 1,605,314 4,853 2,176,994 

      

At 31 December 2022 481,755 636,719 798,815 34,504 1,951,793 

 

All depreciation and impairment charges are included within depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-

financial assets.  

 

The Group reviewed the useful lives of its main IT equipment assets and concluded that no changes were required 

at this stage. This is consistent with the Group’s overall climate commitments and measures the Group will 

implement in the future.  

 

The Group has no capital work in progress at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).  
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The Group does not hold leased assets within property, plant and equipment, the asset value is held in right of use 

assets. 

 

Company Other 

Equipment 

IT 

Equipment 
Total 

Cost or valuation £ £ £ 

At 1 January 2023  388,777 1,277,867 1,666,644 

Additions 1,724 7,775 9,499 

Reclassification - (1,791) (1,791) 

    

At 31 December 2023 390,501 1,283,851 1,674,352 

    

Accumulated depreciation    

At 1 January 2023 235,692 1,086,021 1,321,713 

Charge for the year 79,736 75,937 155,673 

Reclassification - (1,791) (1,791) 

    

At 31 December 2023 315,428 1,160,167 1,475,595 

    

Net book value    

At 31 December 2023 75,073 123,684 198,757 

    

At 31 December 2022 153,085 191,846 344,931 

 

All depreciation and impairment charges are included within depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-

financial assets.  

 

The Company reviewed the useful lives of its main IT equipment assets and concluded that no changes were 

required at this stage. This is consistent with the Company’s overall climate commitments and measures the 

Company will implement in the future.  

 

The Company has no capital work in progress at 31 December 2023. (2022: Nil).  

 

The Company does not hold leased assets within property, plant and equipment, the asset value is held in right of 

use assets. 

 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 68A8208E-72AB-4828-8DD7-EF85C9D194B7



 

CALLIGO (UK) LIMITED 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

47 

 

15 Right of use assets 
 

Group Property IT Equipment Total 

Cost or valuation £ £ £ 

At 1 January 2023 - restated 2,058,488 2,110,725 4,169,213 

Additions 1,237,748 218,851 1,456,599 

Disposals (14,985) - (14,985) 

Adjustments - 7,623 7,623 

Foreign exchange translation differences (72,062) (559) (72,621) 

    

At 31 December 2023 3,209,189 2,336,640 5,545,829 

    

Accumulated depreciation    

At 1 January 2023 - restated 564,638 1,474,526 2,039,164 

Charge for the year 373,191 556,305 929,496 

Disposals (14,985) - (14,985) 

Adjustments - 7,623 7,623 

Foreign exchange translation differences 2,426 (1,365) 1,061 

    

At 31 December 2023 925,270 2,037,089 2,962,359 

    

Net book value    

At 31 December 2023 2,283,919 299,551 2,583,470 

    

At 31 December 2022 - restated 1,493,850 636,199 2,130,049 

 

 

Company Property IT Equipment Total 

Cost or valuation £ £ £ 

At 1 January 2023  203,030 2,090,681 2,293,711 

Adjustment - 83,390 83,390 

Foreign exchange translation differences - - - 

    

At 31 December 2023 203,030 2,174,071 2,377,101 

    

Accumulated depreciation    

At 1 January 2023 69,058 1,454,482 1,523,540 

Charge for the year 38,135 503,988 542,123 

Adjustment - 7,623 7,623 

Foreign exchange translation differences - - - 

    

At 31 December 2023 107,193 1,966,093 2,073,286 

    

Net book value    

At 31 December 2023 95,837 207,978 303,815 

    

At 31 December 2022 133,972 636,199 770,171 

  

DocuSign Envelope ID: 68A8208E-72AB-4828-8DD7-EF85C9D194B7



 

CALLIGO (UK) LIMITED 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 
 

48 

 

16 Prepayments & other short term assets 
 

Prepayments and other short term assets consist of the following: 

 2023 Group 2022 Group  2023 Company 2022 Company 

  Restated    

 £ £ £ £ 

Prepayments & deposits 370,268 275,571 163,360 138,277 

Other Debtors 7,142 92,739 2,778 10,311 

Accrued Income 91,245 126,387 72,194 50,632 

 468,655 494,697 238,332 199,220 

 

17 Trade and other receivables 

 

Trade and other receivables consist of the following: 

 2023 Group 2022 Group 2023 Company 2022 Company 

  Restated   

   £  £ £ £ 

Trade receivables (note a) 1,548,566 2,653,494 449,642 708,156 

Other receivables 162,543 139,434 - - 

Net Investment in Finance Lease 189,842 202,585   

Intercompany Debtor (outside 

group) 

14,546,274 450,942 21,937,000 22,456,483 

 

Cash in escrow (note b) 36,534 35,754 36,534 35,754 

 16,483,759 3,482,209 22,423,176 23,200,393 

Note a: The trade receivables are net of expected credit loss provisions of £362,615 (2022: £242,395). 

Note b: The cash in escrow balance represents funds retained under the terms of the Nordic bond facility.  

All amounts are short-term. The net carrying value of trade receivables is considered a reasonable approximation 

of fair value. 

 

18 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 2023 Group 2022 Group 2023 Company 2022 Company 

Current Assets   £  £ £ £ 

Cash at bank and in hand     

- GBP 120,575 46,335 120,149 45,785 

- Euro 57,893 327,439 16,063 217,883 

- US$ 254,880 518,728 5,595 8,295 

- CAD$ 138,415 207,120 - - 

     

Total 571,763 1,099,622 141,807 271,963 

The amount of cash and cash equivalents inaccessible to the wider Group as at 31 December 2023 amounts to 

£76,980 (31 December 2022: £112,741).  
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19 Equity 
 

Share Capital 

The share capital of the parent company, Calligo (UK) Limited, consists only of fully paid ordinary shares with a 

nominal (par) value of 1p per share. All shares are equally eligible to receive dividends and the repayment of 

capital and represent one vote at shareholders’ meetings of Calligo (UK) Limited. 

 

 2023 2022 

Authorised £ £ 

6,660,974 Ordinary shares of 1p each (2022: 6,600,974 at 1p each) 6,660,974 6,660,974 

 6,660,974 6,660,974 

   

Allotted, called up and fully paid   

6,660,974 Ordinary shares of 1p each (2022: 6,660,974 at 1p each) 6,660,974 6,660,974 

 6,660,974 6,660,974 

 

The Company is authorised to issue an unlimited number of shares. 

 

20 Borrowings 
 

Borrowings include the following financial liabilities: 

Group and Company 2023  

Group 

2022  

Group 

2023  

Company 

2022 

Company 

 £ £ £ £ 

Carrying amount at amortised cost:     

Nordic bond facility 34,512,660 35,224,356 34,512,660 35,224,356 

Less: unamortised bond arrangement fee (489,851) (979,703) (489,851) (979,703) 

     

Total 34,022,809 34,244,653 34,022,809 34,244,653 

 

At the balance sheet date, the Nordic Bond facility was repayable on 30 December 2024 and is therefore classified 

as a current liability. Since the year, new terms were agreed with the bondholders (note 32) and the maturity date 

of the facility has been extended to 31 December 2028. 

 

During the financial year ending 31 December 2023, the margin on the facility ranged from 10.628% to 12.472% 

per annum above benchmark rate which is 3 months EURIBOR with a floor of 0%. It is listed on the open market 

of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and Nasdaq Stockholm. As security, Calligo (UK) Limited and the material 

group companies (being Calligo Limited, Calligo (UK) Limited, Calligo (Ireland) Limited, Calligo (Canada) Inc 

and Calligo (US) Inc) each granted the following: 

  

- Security in respect of all shares in these companies 

- Security over all present and future material intragroup loans; and 

- Security over the escrow account and the acquisition account 
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21 Lease Liabilities 
 

Lease liabilities are presented in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

 2023 

Group 

2022 

Group 

2023 

Company 

2022 

Company 

 £ £ £ £ 

Current 812,547 1,009,909 195,866 557,694 

Non-current 3,098,352 2,229,350 63,649 270,128 

 3,910,899 3,239,259 259,515 827,822 

 

The Group has finance leases for its offices and IT equipment. With the exception of operating leases, short-term 

leases and leases of low-value underlying assets, each lease is reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 

Position as a right of use asset and a lease liability. Variable lease payments which do not depend on an index or 

a rate (such as lease payments based on a percentage of Group sales) are excluded from the initial measurement 

of the lease liability and asset. The Group classifies its right of use assets in a consistent manner to its property, 

plant and equipment (see note 14,15). 

 

Each lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the Group to sublet the asset 

to another party, the right of use asset can only be used by the Group. Leases are either non-cancellable or may 

only be cancelled by incurring a substantial termination fee. Some leases contain an option to purchase the 

underlying leased asset outright at the end of the lease, or to extend the lease for a further term. The Group is 

prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying leased assets as security. For leases over office buildings the 

Group must keep those properties in a good state of repair and return the properties in their original condition at 

the end of the lease. Further, the Group must insure right of use assets and incur maintenance fees on such items 

in accordance with the lease contracts. 

 

The table below describes the nature of the Group’s leasing activities by type of right of use asset recognised in 

the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at 31 December 2023: 

Right of 

use asset 

No of 

right of 

use 

assets 

leased 

Range of 

remaining 

term 

Average 

remaining 

lease term 

No of 

Leases 

with 

extension 

options 

No of 

leases 

with 

options 

to 

purchase 

No of 

leases 

with 

variable 

payments 

linked to 

a rate 

No of leases 

with 

termination 

options 

Office 

Buildings 
7 

2.5 – 12.5 

Years 
4.5 1 0 7 1 

IT 

Equipment 
6 

Under 1 

year 
0.5 0 6 6 0 

 

The lease liabilities are secured by the related underlying assets. Future lease payments at 31 December 2023 and 

31 December 2022 were as follows: 

 Lease payments due 

 Within 

1 year 

Within 

1-2 

Years 

Within 

2-3 

years 

Within 

3-4 

years 

Within 

4-5 

years 

After 5 

years 

Total 

31 December 2023       

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Lease payments 1,074 724 422 423 353 2,402 5,398 

Finance charges (261) (229) (209) (190) (144) (455) (1,488) 

Net present values 813 495 213 233 209 1,947 3,910 
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 Lease payments due 

 Within 

1 year 

Within 

1-2 

Years 

Within 

2-3 

years 

Within 

3-4 

years 

Within 

4-5 

years 

After 5 

years 

Total 

31 December 2022       

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Lease payments 1,048 832 445 161 155 1,064 3,705 

Finance charges (104) (75) (55) (46) (41) (146) (467) 

Net present values 944 757 390 115 114 918 3,238 

 

Lease payments not recognised as a liability  

The Group has elected not to recognise a lease liability for short term leases (leases with an expected term of 12 

months or less), operating leases or for leases of low value assets. Payments made under such leases are expensed 

on a straight-line basis. In addition, certain variable lease payments are not permitted to be recognised as lease 

liabilities and are expensed as incurred.  

 

22 Trade and other payables 
 

Trade and other payables consist of the following 

 2023 Group 2022 Group 2023 Company 2022 Company 

  Restated   

   £  £ £ £ 

Trade payables 1,068,109 1,046,462 427,870 279,682 

Social security & employment taxes 495,470 626,305 210,662 254,267 

Other creditors 1,436,861 629,262 1,300,721 428,747 

Accruals and deferred income 495,779 698,322 139,565 337,003 

Intercompany Creditors (outside UK 

Group) 

29,092,842 10,377,523 14,105,142 10,135,015 

     

 32,589,061 13,377,874 16,183,960 11,434,714 

 

All amounts are short-term. The carrying values of trade payables are considered to be a reasonable approximation 

of fair value. 

 

23 Taxation 
 

Taxation liabilities consist of the following: 

 2023 Group 2022 Group 2023 Company 2022 Company 

   £  £ £ £ 

Withholding taxes 352,202 321,261 - - 

Other overseas taxes payable 161,213 106,569 - - 

     

 513,415 427,830 - - 
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24 Non cash adjustments and changes in working capital 

The following non-cash adjustments and net changes in working capital have been made to profit before tax to 

arrive at operating cash flow: 

 2023 2022 

Non cash adjustments £ £ 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non financial assets 2,418,673 2,179,145 

Impairment of financial assets 6,298,169 169,781 

Foreign exchange  (568,024) 243,491 

Interest and dividend income (1,770) (38,297) 

Interest expense 4,340,854 3,984,503 

Bond prepayment fee expenses 489,852 489,853 

Inventory write down 22,226 - 

Loss/(gain) on disposal of non financial assets 15,616 (61,995) 

Provision for credit losses 120,219 (242,395) 

   

 13,135,815 6,724,086 

 

 

 2023 2022 

Net changes in working capital £ £ 

Change in inventories - (2,123) 

Change in prepayments and other short term assets (169,812) (253,427) 

Change in trade and other receivables  1,449,264 640,649 

Change in trade and other payables (465,791) 242,866 

Change in other assets (28,304) - 

Change in other liabilities 4,843,666 (247,960) 

   

 5,629,023 380,005 

 

25 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities can be classified as follows: 

1 January 2023 Long term 

borrowings 

Short term 

borrowings 

Lease liabilities Total 

 £ £ £ £ 

 34,244,653 - 3,239,259 37,483,912 

Cash flows     

- Repayments - - (1,204,183) (1,204,183) 

- Proceeds - - - - 

     

Non cash     

- Additions - - 1,467,563 1,467,563 

- Reclassification (34,244,653) 34,244,653 - - 

- Interest - - 258,724 258,724 

- Other - (221,844) 149,536 (72,308) 

     

31 December 2023 - 34,022,809 3,910,899 37,933,708 
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1 January 2022 Long term 

borrowings 

Short term 

borrowings 

Lease liabilities Total 

 £ £ £ £ 

 40,517,719 - 4,304,305 44,822,024 

Cash flows     

- Repayments (8,588,539) - (1,328,915) (9,917,454) 

- Proceeds - - - - 

     

Non cash     

- Additions - - - - 

- Prepayment release 489,853 - - 489,853 

- Interest - - 356,340 356,340 

- Other 1,825,620 - (92,471) 1,733,149 

     

31 December 2022 - restated 34,244,653 - 3,239,259 37,483,912 

 

26 Related party transactions 
 

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had the following balances with related parties: 

   2023  2022 

   £  £ 

Calligo Limited Liabilities (14,546,569) (9,926,581) 

 

The above balance is non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.  The balance includes annual management 

charges for services provided to/by other members of the wider group along with cost recharges for services 

provided to the wider group but invoiced by suppliers to one entity.  Included in the consolidated operating loss 

are the following related party transactions: 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Management charges from Calligo Limited (note 1) 398,975 492,577 

Management charges to Calligo Limited (261,915) (259,738) 

 

Net cost 137,060 

 

232,839 

 

Directors Remuneration 

Note 1: included within the Management charges from Calligo Limited are Directors Remuneration of £33,227 

(2022: £99,683). 

 

Directors’ remuneration is split between the Holding Group and the UK Group but only the cost pertaining to the 

UK Group are included in the UK group financial statements. 

 

The aggregate remuneration paid to directors in respect of qualifying services during 2023 was £247,619 (2022: 

£316,981). There were no gains made by directors on the exercise of share options.  

 

Emoluments includes salary, fees and bonuses and estimated money value of any other benefits received otherwise 

than in cash except for the value of any share options granted or gains on the exercise of any such options, company 

contributions paid in respect of any pension scheme or any other money or assets paid to or receivable under any 

long term incentive scheme. 
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Related parties (Company) 

 

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company had the following balances with related parties: 

   2023  2022 

   £  £ 

Calligo Limited (14,079,396) (10,135,015) 

Calligo (Canada) Inc 5,921,878 6,294,100 

Network Integrity Services Limited (24,895) - 

Calligo (US) Inc 9,179,704 9,543,711 

Calligo (Ireland) Holdings Limited 6,834,567 6,618,672 

 

Net Asset 7,831,858 

 

12,321,468 

 

The above balances are non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.  The balances include annual management 

charges for services provided to/by other members of the wider group along with cost recharges for services 

provided to the wider group but invoiced by suppliers to one entity. 

 

Included in the operating loss are the following related party transactions: 

   2023  2022 

   £  £ 

Management charges to Calligo (Canada) Inc 295,687 357,766 

Management charges from Calligo (Canada) Inc (10,047) (10,570) 

Management charges to Calligo Limited 254,379 251,811 

Management charges from Calligo Limited (233,418) (222,782) 

Management charges to Calligo (US) Inc 240,042 420,996 

   

Net income 546,643 797,221 

Refer to notes 4 and 31 for the nature of the relationship between the parties. 

 

Key management of the Group are the Directors of the Company and the Senior Management Team. Key 

management personnel remunerations includes the following expenses: 

 2023 2022 

 £ £ 

Short term employee benefits   

Salaries including bonuses 1,067,542 890,323 

Social security costs 130,585 124,859 

Pension costs 39,338 36,361 

Management costs recharged from Calligo Limited 135,643 377,844 

 1,373,108 1,429,387 

   

Termination benefits - 30,000 

Share based benefits - - 

   

 1,373,108 1,459,387 
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27 Financial assets and liabilities 
 

Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities  

Note 2.4.o provides a description of each category of financial assets and liabilities and the related accounting 

policies. The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are as follows:  

31 December 2023 Note Amortised cost FVTPL Total 

  £ £ £ 

Financial assets     

Trade and other receivables 17 16,483,759 - 16,483,759 

Other long term assets 13 218,333 - 218,333 

Cash and cash equivalents 18 571,763 - 571,763 

Total financial assets  17,273,855 - 17,273,855 

     

Financial liabilities     

Borrowings 20 34,022,809 - 34,022,809 

Contract liability  175,726 - 175,726 

Trade & other payables (excl taxes) 22 32,093,591 - 32,093,590 

Lease liabilities 21 3,910,899 - 3,910,899 

Total financial liabilities  70,203,025 - 70,203,024 

 

31 December 2022 Note Amortised cost FVTPL Total 

  £ £ £ 

Financial assets     

Trade and other receivables 17 3,482,209 - 3,482,209 

Other long term assets 13 429,499 - 429,499 

Cash and cash equivalents 18 1,099,622 - 1,099,622 

Total financial assets  5,011,330 - 5,011,330 

     

Financial liabilities     

Borrowings 20 34,244,653 - 34,244,653 

Contract liability  248,275 - 248,275 

Trade & other payables (excl taxes) 22 12,751,569 - 12,751,569 

Lease liabilities 21 3,239,259 - 3,239,259 

Total financial liabilities  50,483,756 - 50,483,756 

A description of the Group’s financial instrument risks, including risk management objectives and policies is 

given in note 28. 

 

The methods used to measure financial assets and liabilities reported at fair value are described in note 2.4.c. 

 

28 Financial instruments risk 

 

Risk management objectives and policies  

The Group has exposure to a number of financial risks. The main types of risk are market risk, credit risk and 

liquidity risk, all of which are considered further below. 

The board of Directors have overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management arrangements. The Group’s 

risk management is coordinated at its headquarters in close cooperation with the board of directors and focuses 

on actively securing the Group’s short to medium cash flows by minimising any exposure to volatile financial 

markets. 

The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write 

options. The Group’s financial assets and liabilities by category are summarised in note 27. 
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Market risk  

 

Interest rate sensitivity 

The Group does not have any fixed interest rate hedging arrangements in place. The only variable interest rate 

exposure the Group has is in relation to the Nordic bond facility. The rate on this facility was 12.472% at 31 

December 2023 (2022: 10.628%) however this was reduced to a fixed rate of 7% in February 2024 following a 

renegotiation of terms with the bondholders (note 32). A 1% increase in the rate equates to an increased annualised 

interest cost of Euro 398,000. Balances at cash in bank do not earn material interest and there is therefore limited 

interest rate risk. 

 

Foreign currency sensitivity 

The Group's functional and presentation currency is Pound Sterling, but the Group may hold financial assets and 

financial liabilities in other currencies which can be significantly affected by currency translation movements.  

Exposures to currency exchange rates arise from the Group’s overseas sales and purchases, which are primarily 

denominated in US dollars (USD $), Canadian dollars (CAD $), Euro and Pounds Sterling (GBP). A summary of 

the Group’s exposure to foreign currencies is summarised below: 

 GBP Euro US$ CAD$ 

 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 

Year ended 31 December 2023      

Turnover 5,126 2,485 6,951 7,833 

Operating loss (3,287) (1,204) (55) (8,791) 

     

As at 31 December 2023     

Non-current assets 253 220 11,087 3,458 

Current assets 1,356 640 1,299 871 

Non current liabilities (excl intercompany) (64) (39,872) (2,342) (1,909) 

Current liabilities (2,368) (598) (1,710) (1,501) 

 

 GBP Euro US$ CAD$ 

 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 

Year ended 31 December 2022 (restated)     

Turnover 4,704 3,979 9,303 10,755 

Operating loss (2,198) (213) 739 37 

     

As at 31 December 2022 (restated)     

Non-current assets 1,115 1,578 9,499 12,416 

Current assets 2,195 872 2,294 1,467 

Non current liabilities (excl intercompany) (270) 39,961 684 2,052 

Current liabilities (2,033) 686 1,498 1,398 

 

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s principal borrowing was the Nordic bond facility and this is denominated in 

Euro. A 5% strengthening of the euro against GBP will add approximately £1.8m to the sterling value of the 

Nordic bond liability. 

 

The group does not have a formal policy in place to manage foreign exchange exposure, however revenue received 

in foreign currency is used wherever possible to settle liabilities in the same currency. The Group does not have 

any forward FX contracts in place at the balance sheet date. 

 

Price risk 

The Group’s principal price risk relates to the listed bond security, see note 20, with the Nordic bond being 

recorded at amortised cost. The bond did not experience much volatility in the financial year ended 31 December 

2023.  It is unlikely the Bond price will be impacted by inflationary price risk despite global inflation increasing 

by approximately 11% in 2023. 
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Capital risk management 

The Group manages its capital to ensure it will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising return to 

shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances.  The Directors consideration of going 

concern is detailed in the Directors' Report. 

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity less cash and cash equivalents as 

presented in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  

Management assesses the Group’s capital requirements in order to maintain an efficient overall financing structure 

while avoiding excessive leverage. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light 

of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to optimise the 

capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 

shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The amounts managed as capital by the Group for the reporting periods under review are summarised as follows: 

 2023 2022 

  Restated 

 £ £ 

Total equity (42,625,144) (28,277,790) 

Cash and cash equivalents 571,763 1,099,622 

Capital (42,053,381) (27,178,168) 

   

Total equity (42,625,144) (28,277,790) 

Borrowings 34,022,809 34,244,653 

Lease liabilities 3,910,899 3,239,259 

Overall financing (4,691,436) 9,206,122 

 

The Group has no externally imposed capital requirements with which it needs to comply. 

 

Credit risk analysis 

Credit risk represents the risk that a counterparty fails to discharge an obligation to the Group. The Group is 

exposed to credit risk from financial assets including cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. 

 

The Group only deposits cash with major banks with a high quality credit rating as indicated by the ratings and 

outlook metrics issued by Moody’s (Long term/senior Aa3) and Standard and Poor’s (Long term/Senior A+, Short 

term A-1). Details of the Group’s financial assets are disclosed in note 27. 

 

Trade debtors credit risk is managed through the regular review of the aged debtor book and monthly review 

meetings with the finance team. Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers in various industries 

and geographical areas. 

 

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit loss to all trade receivables 

as these items do not have a significant financing component. The expected loss rates are based on the payment 

profile for sales over the past 12 months before 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 respectively as well 

as the corresponding historical credit losses during that period. The historical rates are adjusted to reflect current 

and forward looking macroeconomic factors affecting the customer’s ability to settle the amount outstanding. The 

Group has identified gross domestic product (GDP) and unemployment rates of the countries in which the 

customers are domiciled to be the most relevant factors and accordingly adjusts historical loss rates for expected 

changes in these factors. However, given the short period exposed to credit risk, the impact of these 

macroeconomic factors has not been considered significant within each annual reporting period. Total impaired 

assets or bad debts written off during the year amounts to £147,963 (2022 £57,911). 
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On the above basis the expected credit loss for trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 

was determined as follows: 

31 December 2023 Contract assets Trade receivables days past due 

days past due 

£’000 Current Total Current > 30 

days 

> 60 

Days 

> 90 

days 

Total 

Expected credit loss rate - - 0.9% 1.4% 16.9% 88.8% 19% 

Gross carrying amount - - 1,370.4 75.4 89.5 375.9 1,911.2 

Lifetime expected credit loss - - 12.5 1.1 15.1 333.9 362.6 

 

31 December 2022 Contract assets Trade receivables days past due 

days past due 

£’000 Current Total Current > 30 

days 

> 60 

Days 

> 90 

days 

Total 

Expected credit loss rate - - 1.5% 7.7% 6.4% 56.4% 8.4% 

Gross carrying amount - - 2,353.1 71.7 129.3 341.8 2,895.9 

Lifetime expected credit loss - - 35.8 5.5 8.3 192.8 242.4 

A 1% increase in the 2023 expected loss rate to 20% (2022: 9.4%) would increase the level of annualised expected 

credit loss movement by £19,621. 

 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group does not have sufficient cash or collateral to make payments to its 

counterparties and customers as they fall due. This risk is managed through forecasting the future cash flow 

requirements and maintaining sufficient cash at bank balances. 

The Group has reported no events of default under the Nordic Bond facility since it was taken out in December 

2021. However, it did not pay the quarterly interest initially due on 29 December 2023 as this was covered by the 

written procedure which had been issued to bondholders on 15 December 2023 (note 32).  

The Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities have contractual maturities as summarised below: 

31 December 2023 Current Non current 

 Within 6 mths 6 to 12 mths 1 to 5 years  Later than 5 years 

 £ £ £ £ 

Trade and other payables 3,201,468 9,937 284,812 - 

Contract and other liabilities 177,173 (1,447) - - 

Intercompany creditors - 29,092,842 - - 

Lease liabilities 478,551 334,245 1,150,784 1,947,319 

Borrowings - 34,022,809 - - 

Total  3,857,192 63,458,386 1,435,596 1,947,319 

 

31 December 2022 - restated Current Non current 

 Within 6 mths 6 to 12 mths 1 to 5 years  Later than 5 years 

 £ £ £ £ 

Trade and other payables 2,452,560 249,310 298,481 - 

Contract and other liabilities 227,497 20,778 - - 

Intercompany creditors - 10,377,523 - - 

Lease liabilities 521,442 423,205 1,376,612 918,000 

Borrowings - - 34,244,653 - 

Total  3,201,499 11,070,816 35,919,746 918,000 
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29 Correction of error 
 

During 2023, the Group discovered that it had incorrectly accounted for a sublease that had been entered into by 

one of its subsidiary entities and which became effective in 2022. The following tables summarise the impact on 

the Group’s consolidated financial statements to correct this error. 

 

(i) Consolidated statement of financial position 

     

  Impact of correction of error 

 

31 December 2022 

 As previously 

reported 

 

Adjustments 

 

As restated 

 Notes 31 Dec 2022  31 Dec 2022 

Total assets  £ £ £ 

Right of use assets  2,259,297 (129,248) 2,130,049 

Other long term assets  313,927 429,499 743,426 

Prepayments and other short term assets  546,792 (52,095) 494,697 

Trade and other receivables  3,279,624 202,585 3,482,209 

Others   16,522,636 - 16,522,636 

  22,922,276 450,741 23,373,017 

Total liabilities     

Lease liabilities – non current  (1,833,133) (396,217) (2,229,350) 

Lease liabilities – current  (825,045) (184,864) (1,009,909) 

Trade and other payables  (13,365,473) (12,401) (13,377,874) 

Others  (35,033,675) 1 (35,033,674) 

  (51,057,326) (593,481) (51,650.807) 

     

Total equity  (28,135,050) (142,740) (28,277,790) 

 

(ii) Consolidated statement of Comprehensive Income 
     

  Impact of correction of error 

 

31 December 2022 

 As previously 

reported 

 

Adjustments 

 

As restated 

 Notes 31 Dec 2022  31 Dec 2022 

  £ £ £ 

Income  22,376,755 18,429 22,395,184 

     

Depreciation, Amortisation and impairment of 

non financial assets 

  

(2,393,811) 

 

44,890 

 

(2,348,921) 

Finance costs  (4,028,248) (10,376) (4,038,624) 

Finance Income  - 8,601 8,601 

Other financial items  85,545 (166,414) (80,869) 

Others  (23,394,384) (19,870) (23,414,254) 

Loss for the year  (7,354,143) (124,740) (7,478,883) 

Exchange differences on retranslation of 

subsidiaries 

  

(294,713) 

 

(18,000) 

 

(312,713) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (7,648,856) 142,740 (7,791,596) 
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30 Contingent liabilities 
 

Unfair dismissal claims 

The Company continues to defend a claim raised by a former employee in 2021 which remains the subject of 

litigation proceedings.  The Company has made a prudent provision in these financial statements to cover its 

estimated liability under this claim. The total amount of the contingent liability has not been disclosed as the 

Directors consider it to be commercially sensitive and they do not want to prejudice the position of the Group 

until this claim is resolved. 

 

31 Principal subsidiaries 

 

The principal subsidiary undertakings of the Company, which are 100% owned, are as follows: 

Name 

Country of 

incorporation 

Description of shares 

held 

Principal activity 

Calligo (US) Inc USA Ordinary common shares Data privacy & data 

insight services 

Calligo (Canada) Inc Canada Common CAD$1 shares IT infrastructure 

services provider 

Calligo (Ireland) Holdings 

Limited 

 

Ireland Ordinary shares Euro Holding Company 

Calligo (Ireland) Limited  Ireland Ordinary shares Euro Managed Service 

provider 

 

32 Events after the reporting date 
 

Bond refinance 

 

On 5 February 2024, newly negotiated terms of the bond loan became effective following a series of discussions 

with the bondholders in late 2023 and the subsequent completion of a written procedure which outlined the revised 

terms and conditions. 

 

The key new terms were as follows: 

- The maturity/repayment date of the bond loan was extended to December 2028 

- Interest on the bond loan will now accrue at a fixed rate of 7% per annum as a PIK arrangement compounded 

on each interest payment date and capitalised into the capital balance for settlement upon maturity. The 

interest payment which was originally due on 29 December 2023 is also subject to these new terms  

 

As part of these refinance discussions, the principal shareholder invested a further £3m in the business and this 

was received on 5 February 2024. This investment was by way of a loan facility which bears interest at 6% per 

annum and which is also settled by way of a PIK arrangement. This loan facility shares security with the bond 

loan with senior ranking under an intercreditor agreement. 

   

32 Authorisation of financial statements 
 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (including comparatives) were 

approved by the board of directors on 30 April 2024. 
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